

Oslo Metropolitan University

**Faculty of Social Sciences** 

SIW5901 Master's Thesis

# STATUS OF HUMAN RIGHTS IN THE EUROPEAN COURT OF HUMAN RIGHTS AND THE LANDMARK CASE OF STRAND LOBBEN

Submitted by:

Ruslana KOTSIUBA (s366232)

Supervised by:

Asgeir FALCH-ERIKSEN

Master of Applied Social Sciences – International Social Welfare and Health Policy

Oslo, Spring 2023

# **Acknowledgment**

The Court Lacks Truth

Taras Shevchenko<sup>1</sup>

My interest in human rights sparked the work on this thesis. I believe it is crucial to consistently litigate human rights in a coherent manner in order to preserve the intent of defending each person's dignity.

While interning at the European Court of Human Rights as a Ukrainian lawyer and dealing with the devastating impact of war on my family, I have become more convinced than ever that it is crucial to defend human rights. I am now convinced that the defense of human rights is more important than ever before, even since its inception.

In the effort of working with this dissertation, I tried to conduct research that extends beyond just legal boundaries. My perspective on human rights expanded to include a social viewpoint. I believe that it is crucial for everyone to receive protection and for "the truth" to be discovered in court.

I would like to thank my supervisor, Professor Asgeir Falch-Eriksen, for his patient guidance and encouragement throughout my master's thesis. Without his substantial support, I would not have been able to successfully complete it.

I want to thank all the lecturers and examiners at OsloMet who have inspired me and helped me develop my skills and knowledge in international social welfare and health policy.

I am forever indebted to my father, Oleksandr Kotsiuba, a well-known Ukrainian lawyer, co-founder of the Declaration of State Sovereignty of Ukraine in 1990, to give me generous support and encourage me to pursue new opportunities in life. Every day, I remember my gone brother Volodymyr with great sadness and gratitude for his influence on my upbringing. I am committed to embodying his values and ideas in my life. I would like to express my gratitude to my mother Vira for her unwavering love and support. I also want to thank my daughter Liza for providing me with the additional strength and motivation to finish this thesis.

Oslo May 2023

Ruslana Kotsiuba

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Taras Shevchenko is a prominent Ukrainian philosopher, poet, prose writer, and artist during the 19th century. He was known for his universal talents and was a symbol of Ukrainian sovereignty and the fight for freedom. The world has erected the second-largest number of monuments in honor of this person as a cultural figure, only surpassed by those dedicated to Jesus Christ.

## **SUMMARY**

In Norway, the right to respect for family life is a crucial topic in both social and legal discussions. This is especially true following the European Court of Human Rights rulings against the Norwegian Child Protection Services from 2019 to 2023. Therefore, the decision made in the Stand Lobben case is essential as it upholds guiding principles for safeguarding the right to respect for family life. Furthermore, it is noteworthy that despite facing external pressures from various global political entities, influential NGOs, and worldwide media, the court maintained its stance in the ruling.

Strand Lobben's conflicting opinions make it an interesting subject of study for social researchers. In addition to the court's main arguments, the ruling includes supporting and opposing views and numerous amicus briefs on how to interpret human rights. This raises the issue of whether the courts can make a coherent decision and whether there is a shared understanding of the purpose of human rights.

The fundamental tenets of human rights theory and cosmopolitan logic stipulate that human rights are universal, inalienable, interrelated, interdependent, and indivisible. This implies that every individual is endowed with equal dignity and rights, and comes from international agreements, such as the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, the Convention on the Rights of the Child, and the European Convention on Human Rights, provide a standard framework for human rights, which guarantees the right to respect for family life.

Cosmopolitan rationale aims to safeguard the dignity of all members of society by making decisions based on human rights across jurisdictions and without state control, irrespective of political considerations. Cosmopolitan rationale serves as a tool for assessing the validity and legitimacy of rules and ensuring coherency in decision-making.

The ruling by Strand Lobben highlights the dominant perspectives of communitarian and instrumental approaches. Therefore, Article 8 of the European Convention on Human Rights appears to not align with the cosmopolitan rationale. Unfortunately, the arguments presented in the decision are incoherent and lack legal certainty, leaving room for ambiguous interpretations and political influence.

# **Table of Contents**

Acknowl	edgement	Error! Bookmark not defined.
SUMMA	RY	5
Table of	Contents	6
LIST OF A	ACRONYMS	9
1. Карре	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	10
1.1	Introduction	10
1.2	Research background	10
1.3	Research Objectives, Questions, and Scope	12
1.4	State-of-the-Art Knowledge	12
1.5	Human Rights as a Theoretical Framework	15
1.6	Research Methodology	18
1.6.1	Limitation of Data and Method	
1.6.2	Pethical issues	19
1.6.3	3 Analytic Strategy	
1.7	Findings	19
1.8	Discussion	21
1.9	Academic and Practical Contribution	22
1.10	Conclusion	22
1.11	References	23
1.12	APPENDICES	25
1.12	.1 APPENDIX 1: Statistics of Judgments by Norway 1959-2	022 25
1.12.	.2 APPENDIX 2: Strand Lobben and others	26
1.12	.1 APPENDIX 3: Submission guidelines	27
2. Arti	cle	31
The Righ	t to Respect for Family Life and	31
the Land	mark Case of Strand Lobben	31

Abstrac	ct	.31
Keywo	rds	.31
2.1 Intr	roduction	.31
2.2 The	Strand Lobben decision, concurrent- and dissenting opinions	.34
2.3	Method and data	.35
2.4	Human Rights Theory and the Cosmopolitan Rationale	.35
2.5	Analytical Model – Competing Rationales	.42
2.6	Analysis – Prevalence of Different Rationales Across Opinions	.46
2.7	Discussion: Prevalence of Rationales – Coherently Cosmopolitan or Not	.50
2.8	Conclusion: The Challenge of Lack of Coherency	.52
2.9	References	.53

# **LIST OF ACRONYMS**

CPS	Child Protection Services
CRC	Convention on the Rights of the Child
ECtHR	European Court of Human Rights
European Convention on Human Rights,	Convention for the Protection of Human Rights
ECHR	and Fundamental Freedoms
HUDOC	The database provides access to the case law of
	the ECtHR
Lovdata-pro	The database of legislation of Norway
NGO	Non-governmental organization
Strand Lobben case	Strand Lobben and Others v. Norway
UDHR	Universal Declaration of Human Rights

# 1. Kappe

## 1.1 Introduction

The Norwegian Child Protection Services (CPS) has faced criticism from both national and international sources. The European Court of Human Rights (ECtHR) has heard over 40 cases, bringing attention to public service like never before. Many of these cases involved Norway violating children's rights in foster care, particularly the right to respect for family life for both children and parents. One such case is *Strand Lobben and Others v. Norway* (2019), a landmark case with multiple opinions. The judgment includes two concurrent statements, one dissenting opinion, and eleven amicus briefs filed by stakeholders expressing their views. This shows a court willing to contest its standing on how to uphold such a fundamental right as the right to respect for family life. In this project, I have discussed the different opinions against the backdrop of different approaches to human rights, including strategies that do not uphold human rights according to a human rights ethos but through so-called communitarian, instrumental, or civic republican rationales.

This text is developed as the "Kappe" to a journal article titled "The Right to Respect for Family Life and the Landmark Case of Strand Lobben." The Kappe will seek to lay out the broader picture of the research project that led to the journal article's writing and insert the journal article into its more general academic discourse. I will first lay out the backdrop of the research. Second, I will outline the project's research objectives and questions, culminating in the journal article. Third, I will seek to present state-of-the-art knowledge on the intersection between parents' and children's rights and judicial decision-making. Fourth, I will give the theoretical and methodological framework that has driven the project. Fifth, I will summarise the findings and discussion of the project. Sixth and last, I will discuss the academic and practical implications of the results and conclusions.

## 1.2 Research background

The ECtHR's decision-making procedures were subject to a distinct factor in the public discourse: the significant political influence exerted by prominent non-governmental organizations (NGOs) and the global media (BBS News, 14 April 2016). The President of the Czech Republic even went as far as comparing CPS practices to what Nazi Germany did during their nazi-era (Lohne et al., 2015).

Strand Lobben heads the thirteen similar cases (Secretariat of the Committee of Ministers, 2022) (Appendix 2, Figure 1) for which the ECtHR issued final judgments. In addition, in May 2023, twelve pending CPS cases were under consideration before the ECtHR (The European Court of Human Rights, 2023) (Appendix 2, Figure 2).

In contrast, Norway is known for its commitment to upholding human rights standards through its public services. The country has incorporated nearly all international human rights conventions into its laws, with the European Convention on Human Rights (ECHR) and the Convention on the Rights of the Child (CRC) being given legal precedence over other Norwegian legislation. The Constitution of Norway also includes provisions that protect the right to family life and prioritize preserving a child's natural family (Grunnlov, Last update 12.01.2023).

Furthermore, Norway ranks high in international statistics for human development and the Rule of Law Index, placing second (Human Development Reports, 2022) (World Justice Project, 2022). Moreover, the KidsRights Index ranks Norway in 10<sup>th</sup> position on how children's rights are respected worldwide (KidsRights Foundation, 2022). Nowadays, Norway is also recognized for its successful, family- and child-friendly policies and for nourishing a positive and productive environment to raise children (UNICEF, 2019).

Despite high ratings, failing to safeguard the right to family life in child protection cases poses a recurring and central human rights challenge in Norway (Norwegian National Human Rights Institution, 2020).

This master thesis is part of a large research project, Cosmopolitan Turn and Democratic Sentiments (CONSENT, 2018), that studies cosmopolitism and nation-specific drivers in child rights. It is interesting to study why the ECtHR finds human rights violations in cases concerning the Norwegian CPS and how it changes the Norwegian practice, e.g., concerning the number of care orders and visitation.

The Strand Lobben had reached a top level of family politics and regulation across Europe. Consequently, the case raised "a serious question affecting the interpretation or application of the Convention or the Protocols thereto, or a serious issue of general importance" (Article 43 § 2 of the Convention). For that reason, it came to the Grand Chamber of the ECtHR and became a "key case" by Article 8 in 2019 (European Court of Human Rights, 2020) that we indicate as a landmark case in our study.

Respectively, this judgment sets a precedent, a case law guiding judges to treat new cases. In this regard, a landmark case is a principle that has an impact power establishing a new approach to protecting human rights.

The present research discusses how the ECtHR engages with a parent's rights and frames children as equal rights holders in the case of the Strand Lobben.

## 1.3 Research Objectives, Questions, and Scope

This research project focuses on analyzing the public discourse surrounding the rights of parents and children to family life, using the Strand Lobben case as a landmark example. The main objective is to identify the different reasons behind the concept of the right to respect for family life and how they are used in decision-making by the ECtHR.

The study aims to determine the prevalence of four types of rationales: cosmopolitan, communitarian, instrumental, and civic republican. Additionally, the research will investigate how the opinions presented in the Strand Lobben case align with a cosmopolitan rationale.

To achieve this objective, the research project formulated three research questions that were pursued throughout the study:

- 1. What are the decision-making rationalities used by the ECtHR judges to balance the child's and parent's rights according to the European Convention on Human Rights for the Strand Lobben judgment?
- 2. Are they coherent or vary in how they resonate and in what direction/rationale they lean?
- 3. From a parent's right perspective, has the ECtHR developed the case law on the example of Strand Lobben in line with cosmopolitan rationale? And, if not, what alternative rationalities have dominated the judgment?

This study aims to create a master's thesis on time and resources, and it specifically examines the critical case of Strand Lobben. It does not investigate the entire practice of the ECtHR in CPS.

# 1.4 State-of-the-Art Knowledge

The violation of Article 8 of the ECtHR is a significant concern in Norway and is often discussed in the media, legislation, and courts as a social issue. The country has traditionally presented CPS as a child-centric orientation, as noted by Field (Hestbæk et al., 2023). The Norwegian Constitution is particularly comprehensive in regulating this issue, with provisions on the

protection, participation rights, and the best interests principle that have been applied since the 1950s (Haugli et al., 2019).

Recent research shows that there has been a notable decrease in the amount of aid and support given to children and families who are in vulnerable situations in Norway in terms of child protection (Bufdir, 2022). Claiming the legitimacy of recent changes poses a democratic problem (Skivenes, 2023).

Judgments by the ECtHR against Norway have given rise to considerations from a human rights perspective and differences in understanding the rights at stake (Mørk et al., 2022).

The child's best interests doctrine has become widely used only recently, despite the principle invoked as early as 1988; in some cases, it gained status as the paramount consideration to the extent that it may side-line competing principles in the balancing exercise of adjudication (Jacobsen, 2016). In this line, the ECHR came a long way to acknowledge the deficiencies as a child rights instrument (Fenton-Glynn, 2021): the first focusing on parental rights, the second seeing the situation as competing interests between the child and the parents, and the third recognizing the child's right as a paramount consideration (Mørk et al., 2022).

Literature examines interpretations of the child's best interests by the judiciary from different perspectives. For example, most of the applications before the ECtHR adults bring cases are frequently adjudicated from the standpoint of the adult's rights rather than from the child's (Sanz-Caballero, 2021). Another analysis focuses on what the Court means by a "family unit," and the "child's best interest," showing that respect for the child's family life *de facto is* changing (Breen et al., 2020).

At the same time, children's rights challenge the traditional understanding of families and the relationships between the family and the State; thus, it follows that a child-centric state strengthens its protection of children's rights and challenges parental and family rights (McEwan-Strand & Skivenes, 2018).

How to balance the rights of parents, to privacy and family life, while at the same time ensuring that the health and development of the child are secured, is, in essence, the major question in graduating to the parent-centric (family-unit based) or the child-centric orientation (whereby child's dignity is in focus) (Hestbæk et al., 2023).

The discourse on family life in literature is complex, with diverse and sometimes conflicting viewpoints. Nevertheless, the ECtHR judgment in the Janson case, and the minority dissenting opinion in the Strand Lobben case, highlight the need for the Norwegian case law to give proper attention to children's right to family life as an in-depth examination of the child's best interests is not enough (Haugli et al., 2019).

In the other research, the author analyzes whether the child and parents' right to contact are safeguarded in the care orders; the result reinforces the suspicion that current Norwegian practice may systematically contradict human rights (Gerdts-Andresen, 2021).

The fundamental aspect of professional practice in CPS is the human rights nature of social work. However, after the ECtHR's core judgment of the Strand Lobben, the Norwegian child protection system's increasing complexity and contradictory demands (Olsvik & Saus, 2022).

Interconnections between rights and professional practice demonstrate a general rights-based approach to professional practice in child protection; to become conceptually coherent and have a high amount of explanatory power (Falch-Eriksen, 2018).

From a legal perspective, weighing parents' and child's rights is a so-called balancing exercise that is an interpretation method of the court that was criticized as having no legal certainty. Balancing resolves a conflict between competing principles (rights, interests) which pull into different directions, allowing for bringing the principles into practical concordance (Klatt, 2020). In contrast, balancing is not an alternative to argumentation but a necessary form of rational, practical discourse (Alexy, 2003). In cases before the ECtHR, it demonstrates that "the work of the CPS primarily concerns weighing different human rights up against each other: on the one hand, parents and children's right to family life and maintaining family relationships, and on the other hand, the child's right to protection against neglect, or even violence and abuse; all in all, the legal picture that emerges is both complex and constantly evolving" (Norwegian National Human Rights Institution, 2020).

Concerning political influence and the necessity of expertise, courts are set up to reduce the legal uncertainty inherent in all legislation; they draw legitimacy from fulfilling that purpose; however, such uncertainty also makes room for policy-oriented considerations (Hermansen, 2020).

Legal scholars tend to take a more internal view of judging, in which constitutions, statutes, regulations, and precedents drive how cases are decided, while political scientists usually take an external view of the drivers of judicial decisions, such as a judge's ideology, political influences, and group dynamics within the courts (Lindman, 1989).

In the article on the legitimacy of the decisions from a deliberative perspective, the author builds on approaches to study the rationality of decisions in the legal context (Skivenes & Sørsal, 2018) on theories of argumentation from the tradition of Habermas and Alexy and is based on an evaluation of whether the court's validation of claims meets the discourse ethical standards, adheres to the rules of rational argumentation, and follows the rules for deliberative processes (Helland, 2021).

This research will scrutinize how social science, law, and politics converge in interpreting human rights and incorporating the fundamental value of dignity into our daily routines.

# 1.5 Human Rights as a Theoretical Framework

The theoretical framework applied in this research project provides a theory of what *cosmopolitan rationale* entails as the normative theory of human rights and, more specifically, what the right to respect for family life works for children and parents provided such a rationale. To explain what carries the opinions within the Strand Lobben judgment when they do not align with a cosmopolitan ethos, we suggest an analytical model with three additional rationales that can help explain what rationality is more prevalent whenever the cosmopolitan is not: communitarian, instrumental, and civic republican rationale (Appendix 2, Figure 3).

To the ECtHR, the primary "law" is the ECHR. This implies that this convention and not others protect the parent's and child's rights. Other human rights instruments can be legal sources but do not constitute the law. Therefore, the ECtHR does not consider the CRC "the law." In Article 1 of the ECHR: "The High Contracting Parties shall secure to everyone within their jurisdiction the rights and freedoms defined in … this Convention". For this project, we are preoccupied with Article 8 of the ECHR. It guarantees that everyone has the right to respect for his private and family life, and there shall be no interference with this freedom.

To understand the *cosmopolitan* approach relevant to this thesis, it is embedded in the ECHR in Articles 1 and 8, where the right to respect for family life is a human right "for

everyone" that belongs to all humans and is relevant to understanding all the freedoms the human rights convention provides. Furthermore, the ECHR protects adults and children equally according to a fundamental principle of equality before the law. In this way, the rights figure through the ECtHR jurisprudence must be understood according to a rationale that calls for protecting the individual dignity of every person irrespective of who that person is, i.e., a cosmopolitan rationale. Thus, it means that each and any person carries equal dignity and is bestowed equal protection by the convention. These features indicate the *universal status of human rights*.

The ECHR is a part of the broader "human rights system" created and developed after the Second World War. In the Preamble, the ECHR calls "to take the first steps for the collective enforcement of certain of the rights stated in the Universal Declaration."

The core international human rights instruments of the United Nations, consisting of the number of international treaties together, create the international human rights normative framework and human rights standard being universal, inalienable, interrelated, interdependent, and indivisible (United Nations Organisation, 2023). According to this approach, universality means that human rights are common regardless of political, economic, or cultural systems; inalienability refers to the inherency of human rights in all persons and cannot be alienated from an individual; interrelation implies that the realization of any one human right is a function of the realization of the other human rights; interdependency involves as the level of enjoyment of any one right is dependent on the level of realization of the other rights; indivisibility purports that all civil, cultural, economic, political and social rights are equally important, and improving the enjoyment of any right cannot be of the expense of the realization of any other right (United Nations Organisation, 2023).

These principles empirically link to the UDHR: "All human beings are born free and equal in dignity and rights" (United Nations, 2015). The United Nations General Assembly "proclaims this Universal Declaration of Human Rights as a common standard of achievement for all peoples and all nations" (United Nations Organisation, 1948). From this, the cosmopolitan rationale coincides with using "standard" and "human rights standard." The cosmopolitan rationale aligns itself with a human rights ethos and the normative theory of human rights.

A significant contribution to cosmopolitan political thought at the beginning of the twenty-first century was made by Jürgen Habermas, drawing on a universalistic conception of human rights and a corresponding interpretation of the development of international law (Cronin, 2011).

According to J. Habermas, despite the abstract meaning of human dignity, it depends on the social recognition of status - the status of democratic citizenship: it means that "only membership in a constitutional political community can protect, by granting equal rights, the equal human dignity of everybody." (Habermas, 2010). The philosopher depicts "an explicit connection between human rights and dignity," the role of human dignity as "the moral "source" from which all the basic rights derive their meaning (Habermas, 2010). Furthermore, "human dignity, which is one and the same everywhere and for everyone, grounds "the *indivisibility* of all categories of human rights" (Habermas, 2010). Treating every individual with respect and esteem is a fundamental moral and political principle that fosters parity and reinforces a *cosmopolitan* rationale consistent with the fundamental tenets of human rights.

This idea reflects egalitarian universalism as a core moral value, and it refers to the conception of justice that means they must be distributed equally universally and imply the same for all; human dignity forms the "portal" through which the egalitarian and universalistic substance of morality gets imported into the legal order and professional practices (Falch-Eriksen, 2022).

The concept of equal dignity promotes children's rights to full development and respect for their views (Pecnic, 2007). The right to respect for family life is operatively expressed for children and parents when in a family differently; however, the dignity of both is equally respected as well as the dignity of each member of a family equally compared to the next family. A parent's rights to family life must thereby communicate with the child's right to family life to build a complex interconnection of human rights provided a *cosmopolitan* rationale.

The rationale of cosmopolitanism acts as a filter to determine the *validity* and *legitimacy* of rules and as a guide for making coherent decisions. "A justified decision in hard cases often becomes possible only by appealing to a violation of human dignity whose absolute validity grounds a claim to priority. In judicial discourse, the role of this concept is

far from that of a vague placeholder for a missing conceptualization of human rights" (Habermas, 2010).

As we are most interested in the *cosmopolitan* rationale, and the prevalence of it within the Strand Lobben case, we also need the ability to explain what is going on whenever the cosmopolitan rationale is not guiding the judgment. Therefore, we have developed a fourpart analytical mode with three additional rationales. These rationales are as follows:

- 1. *Cosmopolitan* Rationale aims to uphold the dignity of all members of society, irrespective of their jurisdiction (Rights as trumps).
- 2. *Communitarian* Rationale focuses on safeguarding citizens and integrating them into a collective identity (Rights as values).
- 3. *Instrumental* Rationale aims to achieve specific objectives successfully (Rights as targets).
- 4. *Civic Republican* Rationale seeks to promote the public good, benefiting everyone, with rules democratically decided (Rights as collective self-rules).

## 1.6 Research Methodology

The complexity of the research question calls for an interdisciplinary approach combining legal- and political science perspectives with social sciences methodologies of thematic analysis of document data and case study research. I analyze opinions in judgments to identify patterns and themes, which I group into an analytical model. The singular judgment case study explores the nuances of applying the right to respect for family life in complex situations. We can use process tracing to uncover the prevalence of different rationales and determine what factors lead to different conclusions.

We obtained the data for this study from various sources. These included the Norwegian public register LovData, United Nations Organization documents, and HUDOC. The latter provides case law from the ECtHR related to child rights reviews and studies and policy documents on "impact" cases.

## 1.6.1 Limitation of Data and Method

This study specifically examines the significant and influential case of Strand Lobben, which has become a landmark case. However, it does not explore the entirety of the ECtHR's work related to CPS. Therefore, the list of reasons suggested in the analytical model may not

include every possibility. Additionally, we do not have access to all the opinions presented to the court, so it is unclear which ones were considered and which were rejected.

Also, as a case study, the research conducted in this project will not claim to unveil a general trend of how the court operates but rather provide a picture of how the court can work from within the scope of one judgment. This implies that although the findings are evidence of occurrences of variations within one judgment and unveiling many different rationales within that one judgment, it cannot make a claim that the court consistently operating incoherently. However, as the Strand Lobben judgment is a landmark case, it has repercussions for the development of the court's jurisprudence for years to come.

#### 1.6.2 Ethical issues

This thesis followed the primary ethical considerations in a social science study, including guidance from the Norwegian Data Protection Authority (SIKT) and The National Committee for Research Ethics in the Social Sciences and the Humanities. This article-based thesis does not process data that can violate the privacy of individuals. The study is nevertheless aware of the sensitivity of the topic area in which the investigation takes place, in child protection research. Therefore, due consideration has been taken to induce the study and the presented arguments with the respectfulness needed of the topic domain.

## 1.6.3 Analytic Strategy

Our analysis of the Strand Lobben case and relevant legal precedents, reviews, and administrative literature has enabled us to identify key themes from the decision. Additionally, we have carefully considered amicus briefs and delved into the underlying rationales to comprehensively understand the case.

## 1.7 Findings

The Strand Lobben ruling is based chiefly on both *communitarian* and *instrumental* reasoning. The communitarian viewpoint values the preservation of traditional family ties. At the same time, the instrumental perspective prioritizes the reunion of families as a goal. It protects the child's interests in maintaining a family life with a natural or foster family.

In the first case, the judges on the main panel argue that family unity is important and should be respected. They believe it is the authorities' responsibility to help families reunite

as soon as possible. The relationship between parents and children is a crucial part of family life, and any restrictions on parental access could harm this relationship.

In dissenting opinions, the communitarian rationale suggests that preserving family ties is in a child's best interest. Various amicus briefs, including those submitted by Bulgaria, Czech Republic, and Slovakia governments and NGOs like the Alliance Defending Freedom International and the AIRE Centre (Advice on Individual Rights in Europe), emphasize the importance of family unity.

In the second scenario, where the *instrumental* rationale prevails, the judges of the main panel aim to solve problems in a way that reunites natural parents with their children. In addition, when examining the case, it was observed that there was a bias toward finding a violation of Article 8: the intervention by the Norwegian CPS resulted in negative consequences for underage foreign citizens and predetermined the outcome of the case. While the majority of opinions agreed with this outcome, there were dissenting opinions that emphasized the importance of prioritizing the protection of children. In support of this perspective, the governments of Belgium, Denmark, and the United Kingdom submitted amicus briefs stating that Article 8 should not be used to justify endless attempts at family reunification.

Other logics can be considered, although they may not be as significant. The *civic republican* viewpoint suggests that the traditional family is viewed as a benefit to society because it is widely accepted as such. Variations in family dynamics and cultural traditions across different regions can affect the extent of CPS involvement in such matters.

The *cosmopolitan* rationale is based on the belief that the fundamental objective of the CRC is to safeguard and maintain the rights of children as distinct persons. This standpoint was expressed in the opposing viewpoint.

Judging what it takes to safeguard the human dignity of a parent and a child from the Strand Lobben, if to apply the *cosmopolitan* rationale, everyone, a child and a parent, is equal in their rights to respect for family life, and children are equal rights holders. Instead, the court's argument focuses on family unity and reunification to protect a parent's rights, sometimes formally referring to the child's best interests as "paramount," prioritizing them above a parent's right in court reasoning.

As we analyze Strand Lobben's arguments, we anticipate that they will highlight the significance of dignity for parents and children alike to protect their right to family life. Unfortunately, the discussion on the child's right to respect for family life was overlooked in this decision. In order to appeal to dignity, it was important to give proper weight to the child's rights in the argument and fix them in a landmark judgment.

## 1.8 Discussion

There are varying interpretations of human rights when it comes to Strand Lobben. The problem with conceiving the right to respect for family life according to *communitarian* and *instrumental* rationales does not seem to collide with cosmopolitanism in the argumentation albeit the different rationales are present throughout the judgment.

The ECtHR promotes the *communitarian* approach, but the provisions of the CRC and UDHR are not being implemented in a manner consistent with human rights in a cosmopolitan sense. In addition, the conflicting interpretation of the ECHR and the CRC highlights the importance of having a unified approach to children's rights.

According to the *communitarian* rationale, the interpretation of Art. 8 of the ECHR, which the main panel of judges carries, narrows the right to respect for family life down to the obligation of authorities to take measures to facilitate family reunification on the value of biological ties. Although a cosmopolitan approach has a biological presupposition, it does not allow biological ties to become legal trumps compared to the child's best interests.

However, in the dissenting opinion, the prevalence of *instrumental* rationale is identified as successfully achieving an objective: rebuilding the family because it is the efficient unit of society and using the efficacy of the child's best interests as a mere problem-solving target. The use of instrumental logic neglects the importance of the child's dignity and goes against the liberal normative principles of prioritizing the child's self-interest.

In contrast, *communitarian* logic highlights the significance of rights as values and represents the moral principles of the community. However, children's rights are often overlooked, resulting in children being denied their rights due to their perceived immaturity.

To ensure that human rights are equally distributed to everyone, it is important that we have a clear understanding of what constitutes the right to respect for private and family life. Furthermore, this understanding must be guided by a shared cosmopolitan rationale that

can be used to make decisions across all countries covered by both CRC and Art. 8 of the ECHR.

## 1.9 Academic and Practical Contribution

This study's results can significantly impact various fields, including research, policy, and society. For the research community, it highlights the importance of empirically examining legal practices as representations of norms rather than blindly accepting a human rights court's authority. This critical evaluation is not a common research practice. Additionally, the study's findings suggest that national policies and laws still have a long way to go before truly incorporating a cosmopolitan ethos that values human rights.

Improving legal and political approaches to align with human rights is vital for judicial decision-making and reducing internal political influence. Integrating the concept of dignity into international judicial decision-making provides coherency and strengthens the legal certainty principle.

The article manuscript, including this master thesis (Part 2), is finalized to submit to the International Journal of Children's Rights. The article is written and formatted according to the journal submission guidelines (Appendix 3). This journal focuses both on critical leadership and practical policy development, reflects the perspectives of a broad range of disciplines, and contributes to a greater understanding of children's rights and their impact on the concept and development of childhood.

## 1.10 Conclusion

The status of human rights in a society can be seen through the extent to which they are upheld in judicial decision-making. This thesis emphasizes the cosmopolitan approach, which upholds all individuals' equal dignity and rights. The UDHR, ECHR, and CRC establish that human rights are universal, inalienable, interrelated, indivisible, and interdependent. This study suggests that human rights should be approached according to the cosmopolitan rationale that prioritizes dignity in family life. National policies should reflect this focus on human rights and incorporate dignity into decisions made by the judicial system. Validity and legitimacy should also be ensured.

## 1.11 References

Alexy, R. (2003). Constitutional Rights, Balancing, and Rationality. *Ratio Juris*, 16(2), 131-140.

BBS News. (14 April 2016). Norway's Barnevernet: They took our four children... then the baby.

Breen, C., Krutzinna, J., Luhamaa, K., & Skivenes, M. (2020). Family Life for Children in State Care: An Analysis of the European Court of Human Rights' Reasoning on Adoption Without Consent. *The International Journal of Children's Rights*, 28(4), 715-747.

CONSENT. (2018). *About the Project*. Retrieved 05.05.2023 from <a href="https://consent-project.org/en/about-us/about-project">https://consent-project.org/en/about-us/about-project</a>

Cronin, C. (2011). Jürgen Habermas: Key Concepts In B. Fultner (Ed.), *Cosmopolitan democracy* (pp. 196-221).

European Court of Human Rights. (2020). KEY CASES 2019.

Falch-Eriksen, A. B.-H., Elisabeth. (2018). Human Rights in Child Protection: Implications for Professional Practice and Policy.

Fenton-Glynn, C. (2021). Children and the European Court of Human Rights.

Gerdts-Andresen, T. (2021). A Child's Right to Family Life when Placed in Public Care; An Analysis of Whether Current Norwegian Practice is in Systematic Contradiction to Human Rights. *The International of Children's Rights*, *29*(3), 563-588.

Goldhagen, J., Clarke, A., Dixon, P., Guerreiro, A. I., Lansdown, G., & Vaghri, Z. (2020). Thirtieth anniversary of the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child: advancing a child rights-based approach to child health and well-being. *BMJ Paediatrics Open*(4(1)).

Habermas, J. (2010). The concept of human dignity and the realistic utopia of human rights. *Metaphilosophy*, *41*(4), 464-480.

Haugli, T., Nylund, A., Sigurdsen, R., & Bendiksen, L. R. L. (2019). *Children's Constitutional Rights* in the Nordic Countries

Helland, H. S. (2021). In the Best Interest of the Child? Justifying Decisions on Adoption from Care in the Norwegian Supreme Court. *The International Journal of Children's Rights*, *29* (3), 609-639.

Hermansen, S. S. L. (2020). Building legitimacy: strategic case allocations in the Court of Justice of the European Union. *Journal of European Public Policy*, *27*(8), 1215-1235.

Hestbæk, A.-D., Skivenes, M., Falch-Eriksen, A., Svendsen, I. L., & Backe-Hansen, E. (2023). The Child Protection Systems in Denmark and Norway. In *Oxford Handbook of Child Protection Systems* (pp. 112-C116P115).

Human Development Reports. (2022). Norway.

Jacobsen, A. F. (2016). Children's Rights in the European Court of Human Rights – An Emerging Power Structure. *The International Journal of Children's Rights, 24*(3), 548-574.

KidsRights Foundation. (2022). The KidsRights Index 2022.

Klatt, M. (2020). Balancing Rights and Interests: Reconstructing the Asymmetry Thesis. *Oxford Journal of Legal Studies*, *41*(2), 321-347.

Lindkvist, L. (2018). Rights for the World's Children: Rädda Barnen and the Making of the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child. *Nordic Journal of Human Rights*, *36*(3), 287-303.

Lindman, C. R. (1989). Sources of Judicial Distrust of Social Science Evidence: A Comparison of Social Science and Jurisprudence. *Indiana Law Journal*, *64*(3, Article 15).

Lohne, J., Ege, R. T., Norman, M. G., & Åsebø, S. (2015). *Tsjekkias president sammenligner norsk barnevern med nazi-program*. Retrieved 9. February from

McEwan-Strand, A., & Skivenes, M. (2018). A CHILD-CENTRED COURT OF HUMAN RIGHTS? STRAND LOBBEN V. NORWAY.

Mørk, A., Sandberg, K., Schultz, T., & Hartoft, H. (2022). Conflict between the Best Interests of the Child and the Right to Respect for Family Life? Non-Consensual Adoption in Denmark and Norway as an Example of the Difficulties in Balancing Different Considerations. *International Journal of Law, Policy & the Family*, *36*(1), 1-23. 10.1093/lawfam/ebac019

Norwegian National Human Rights Institution. (2020). Why Does the ECtHR Find Human Rights Violations in Cases Concerning the Norwegian Child Welfare Services.

Norwegian National Human Rights Institution. (2021). *Climate and Human Rights*. <a href="https://www.nhri.no/en/report/climate-and-human-rights/5-the-european-convention-on-human-rights/">https://www.nhri.no/en/report/climate-and-human-rights/5-the-european-convention-on-human-rights/</a>

Olsvik, B., & Saus, M. (2022). Coping with Paradoxes: Norwegian Child Welfare Leaders Managing Complexity. *Child Care in Practice*, *28*(3), 464-481.

OsloMetropolitanUniversity. (2022). *Cosmopolitan turn and democratic sentiments* (CONSENT).

Pecnic, N. (2007). Towards a vision of parenting in the best interests of the child In M. Daly (Ed.), *Parenting in contemporary Europe : a positive approach* (pp. 15-36). Council of Europe Publishing.

Regjeringen. (2022). *Endringer i lover og forskrifter fra 1. januar 2023*.

Sanz-Caballero, S. (2021). Towards a Uniform and Informed Interpretation of the Best Interests of the Child by the Judiciary: Inter-American and European Jurisprudence. *The International Journal of Children's Rights*(29), 54-77.

Skivenes, M. (2023). Wrong direction for the Norwegian child protection?

Skivenes, M., & Sørsal, L. M. (2018). The Child's Best Interest Principle across Child Protection Jurisdictions. In A. B.-H. Falch-Eriksen, Elisabeth (Ed.), *Human Rights in Child Protection: Implications for Professional Practice and Policy*.

The European Court of Human Rights. (2019). *Case Description: STRAND LOBBEN AND OTHERS v. Norway*. Retrieved 2023 from {%22EXECIdentifier%22:[%22004-54045%22]}

The European Court of Human Rights. (2023). *Press country profile Norway*. Retrieved Last updated: January 2023

UNICEF. (2019). Sweden, Norway, Iceland, Estonia and Portugal rank highest for family-friendly policies in OECD and EU countries. Retrieved 06.05.2023 from <a href="https://www.unicef.org/press-releases/sweden-norway-iceland-and-estonia-rank-highest-family-friendly-policies-oecd-and-eu">https://www.unicef.org/press-releases/sweden-norway-iceland-and-estonia-rank-highest-family-friendly-policies-oecd-and-eu</a>

United Nations. (2015). *Universal Declaration of Human Rights* World Justice Project. (2022). *WJP Rule of Law Index*.

## 1.12 APPENDICES

# 1.12.1 APPENDIX 1: Statistics of Judgments by Norway 1959-2022

## Violations by Article and by State

6   Kill   Kill	Gorana Frederica	roll sellen	Clier inde	Tour Code	A alfactive in	higher of the state of the stat	of degradi	Selfective in	10	Right Right	To liberty of	Color to a fair	Sth of Drock	No Pichores	Right Ton St.	Programme Control of the Control of	Celicoli, Orione or	5	Fossembly Cond	Right to Trop	Prohit on effects	Proping Proping Sections of the Contracts		Sight to edica	Right to fee of	Other to be tried of	Ticles of the Outlisted A.	Convention	
	Total	Total	Total	Total	Total	2	2	3	3	3	2/3	4	5	6	6	6	7	8	9	10	-11	12	13	14	P1-1	P1-2	P1-3	P1-4	
Lithuania	250	173	58	13	6	3	6		33	10	1		26	36	28	2	1	23	2	3	1		8	7	33		1	1	
Luxembourg	52	37	12	3			1						1	17	17			4		3	1		3	1	1				
Malta	138	106	20		12	1			4		1		27	13	14	1	2	7		5			27	4	56				
Republic of Moldova	575	492	44	5	34	4	17	9	114	65			121	180	13	41	1	45	5	21	18		63	7	160		3	1	1:
Monaco	4	3	1										1	3															
Montenegro	71	65	4		2		1		4	3			6	10	30	6		5		2			5	1	7				
Netherlands	177	98	51	16	12		4	1	10				34	32	8			17		7			2	3	1				
North Macedonia	191	168	15	3	5	2	2	3	6	14			17	57	66	5		10		4	5		11	2	15				
Norway	72	45	27										1	12	2			23		6					1	1			
Poland	1,254	1,057	137	42	18	7	9	2	67	15	1		318	130	452	4		127	1	38	1	2	43	5	59				16
Portugal	373	285	23	56	9	2	6		4				7	42	144	6		18		31			43	2	48				
Romania	1,754	1,541	91	48	74	14	59	2	380	99			125	481	152	55	4	118	4	40	6		29	43	511	1	7	5	21
Russian Federation	3,500	3,317	121	18	44	363	419	89	1,190	291	45	1	1,494	1.076	209	170	4	395	20	139	128		820	33	700	3	9	10	180
San Marino	22	14	5	2	1								1	10	3			1	1						1				
Serbia	244	217	19	1	7		3		7	10			13	33	54	80		18		7			18	2	87		1	2	
Slovak Republic	422	378	13	22	9	3	3	1	6	6			62	53		2		28		11			41	4	22				
Slovenia	377	346	24	4	3		3		21	6			6	27	264	3	1	12		3			267	3	9				
Spain	206	143	56	3	4		1		1	14			5	67	16	1	4	22		11	1		2	5	2				
Sweden	157	62	62	28	5	1		1	4		5		2	28	12	1		10		2	1		3	1	6			1	
Switzerland	223	131	84	5	3	1	2		2	1	7		22	39			1	27	1	20	2	1	2	8				1	
Türkiye	3,900	3,458	100	219	123	143	225	31	348	229			843	991	609	70	6	140	13	426	117		283	20	718	7	15		37
Ukraine	1,840	1,800	23	4	13	14	78	22		131	1		649	622	549	39	2	116	6	22		1	480	10	382		6	2	82
United Kingdom	567	329	146	69	23	2	20	2	17		1	2	70	97	30		1	78	1	15	4	4	35	46	4	2	8		:
Sub-total TOTAL <sup>4</sup>		21,784	2,085 25,		770	630	984	188	3,135	1,081	90	13	4,903	5,703	6,144	673	59	1,892	106	1,067	418	10	3,115	357	3,810	18	116	47	529



This table has been generated automatically, using the conclusions recorded in the metadata for each judgment contained in HUDOC, the Court's case-law database.

1. Other judgments: just satisfaction, revision, preliminary objections and lack of jurisdiction.

2. Figures in this column may include conditional violations.

3. Cases in which the Court held there would be a violation of Article 2 and/or 3 if the applicant was removed to a State where he/she was at risk. Figures in this column are available only from 2013 onwards.

4. Including 94 judgments which concern 2 or more respondent States.

## 1.12.2 APPENDIX 2: Strand Lobben and others

Figure 1

The group of cases concerns various violations of the biological parent's right to family life in the period between 2011-2018

	Name of applicant	Application no.	Final judgment date
1	J	2822/16	6 December 2018
2	A.S.	60371/15	17 March 2020
3	K.O. and V.M.	64808/16	15 April 2020
4	P. and others	39710/15	7 September 2020
5	H.	14652/16	7 September 2020
6	M.L.	64639/16	22 March 2021
7	F.Z.	64789/17	1 July 2021
8	K.E. and A.K.	57978/18	1 July 2021
9	R.O.	49452/18	1 July 2021
10	M.F.	5947/19	25 November 2021
11	E.H.	39717/19	25 November 2021
12	Abdi Ibrahim	15379/16	10 December 2021
13	A.L. and others	45889/18	20. January 2022

Figure 2

CPS cases under consideration before the ECtHR

1	A.G. v. Norway	(no. 14301/19)	Case communicated to the Government in October 2019							
2	Hernehult v. Norway	(no. 20102/19)	Case communicated to the Government in October 2019							
3	G.B. v. Norway	(no. 38097/19)	Case communicated to the Government in October 2019							
4	D.J. and P.J. v. Norway	(no. 38105/19)	Case communicated to the Government in October 2019							
5	A.H. v. Norway	(no. 39771/19)	Case communicated to the Government in October 2019							
6	R.A. v. Norway	v. Norway (no. 44598/19) Case communicated to the Government in Oc								
7	G.G. v. Norway	(no. 45985/19) Case communicated to the Government in Octob								
8	K.F. and A.F. v. Norway	(no. 39769/17)	Case communicated to the Government in June 2019							
9	D.R. v. Norway	(no. 63307/17)	Case communicated to the Government in June 2019							
10	S.E. and Others v.	(no. 9167/18)	Case communicated to the Government in June 2019							
	Norway									
11	M.A. and M.A. v.	(no. 48372/18)	Case communicated to the Government in June 2019							
	Norway									

## 1.12.1 APPENDIX 3: Submission guidelines

## The International Journal of Children's Rights

brill.com/chil



Instructions for Authors

#### Scope

Focusing both on critical leadership and practical policy development, the articles in the preeminent International Journal of Children's Rights (CHIL) reflect the perspectives of a broad range of disciplines and contribute to a greater understanding of children's rights and their impact on the concept and development of childhood. The journal deploys the insights and methodologies of all relevant disciplines, including law, legal and political theory, psychology, psychiatry, educational theory, sociology, social administration and social work, health, social anthropology, economics, theology, and history to further children's rights in all parts of the world.

## **Ethical and Legal Conditions**

The publication of a manuscript in a peer-reviewed work is expected to follow standards of ethical behaviour for all parties involved in the act of publishing: authors, editors, and reviewers. Authors, editors, and reviewers should thoroughly acquaint themselves with Brill's publication ethics, which may be downloaded here: <a href="mailto:brill.com/page/ethics/publication-ethics-cope-compliance">brill.com/page/ethics/publication-ethics-cope-compliance</a>.

#### Online Submission

CHIL now uses an online submission system to facilitate an efficient selection and peer-review process for all concerned. Authors should submit their manuscript online via the Editorial Manager (EM) online submission system at: <a href="editorialmanager.com/chil">editorialmanager.com/chil</a>. First-time users of EM need to register first. Go to the website and click on the 'Register Now' link in the login menu. Enter the information requested. During registration, you can fill in your username and password. If you should forget this username and password, click on the "send login details" link in the login section, and enter your e-mail address exactly as you entered it when you registered. Your access codes will then be e-mailed to you. Prior to submission, authors are encouraged to read the 'Instructions for Authors'. When submitting via the website, you will be guided stepwise through the creation and uploading of the various files. A revised document is uploaded the same way as the initial submission. The system automatically generates an electronic (PDF) file, which is then used for reviewing purposes. All correspondence, including the editor's request for revision and final decision, is sent by e-mail.

## Double-blinded Peer-review

CHIL uses a double-blind peer review system, which means that manuscript author(s) do not know who the reviewers are, and that reviewers do not know the names of the author(s). When you submit your article via Editorial Manager, you will be asked to submit a separate title page that includes the full title of the manuscript, the names and complete contact details of all authors, the abstract, keywords, and any acknowledgement texts. This page will not be accessible to the referees. All other files (manuscript,

Last revised on 9 June 2022

page 1 of 4

# The International Journal of Children's Rights

brill.com/chil



## Instructions for Authors

figures, tables, etc.) should not contain any information concerning author names, institutions, etc. The names of these files and the document properties should also be anonymised. Book Reviews need not be anonymised: the name and address of the author should be added in the first submission.

#### Contact Address

For any questions or problems relating to your manuscript please contact the Editors: <a href="mailto:L.Lundy@qub.ac.uk">L.Lundy@qub.ac.uk</a>; <a href="mailto:stalford@liverpool.ac.uk">stalford@liverpool.ac.uk</a>. For technical questions about Editorial Manager, authors can also contact the Brill EM Support Department at: <a href="mailto:support-em@brill.com">support-em@brill.com</a>

## **Submission Requirements**

#### Language

Manuscripts should be written in British English. Spelling should be consistent throughout.

#### Manuscript Length

Manuscripts must not exceed 10,000 words in length, including the abstract, keywords and references.

## **Manuscript Structure**

Articles must be typed, double-spaced throughout, allowing good margins.

## Abstract and Keywords

On the title page file, after the title and author's name and affiliation, articles should include a short abstract, consisting of only one paragraph (100-150 words) as well as 3-10 keywords.

## Headings

All headings should be flush left and should be numbered:

- 1 First Level Headings Are in Bold
- 1.1 Second Level Headings Are Bold Italic
- 1.1.1 Third Level Headings Are Roman

#### Quotations

Always use single quotation marks (") for relatively short direct quotations.

Longer quotations should be presented as a separate block of text, indented on the left, preceded and followed by a blank line, and printed in characters of normal size; such longer quotations are *not* enclosed in quotation marks.

Last revised on 9 June 2022

page 2 of 4

## The International Journal of Children's Rights

brill.com/chil



## Instructions for Authors

Double quotation marks ("") are reserved for single words, concepts or short phrases that are not a quotation. Quotation marks should always precede punctuation marks.

#### **Footnotes**

Footnotes should be kept to an absolute minimum.

The journal uses in-text references and a reference list (see below).

## References

#### In Text References

In-text references should be cited by giving the author's name, year of publication (Jones, 1998) and specific page numbers after a direct quotation. In-text lists of references should be given in chronological order.

#### Reference List

All references should be listed at the end of the article in a reference list. All citations in the manuscript must appear in the reference list, and all references must be cited in text. References should be arranged alphabetically by author, and chronologically for each author. Publications for the same author appearing in a single year should use a, b, etc. Please add a DOI whenever possible. References should conform to the following style:

#### Book

King, M., A Better World for Children? (London: Routledge, 1997).

## **Book Chapter**

Van Bueren, G., "Children's Rights: Balancing Traditional Values and Cultural Diversity", in G. Douglas and L. Sebba (eds.), *Children's Rights and Traditional Values* (Aldershot: Ashgate, 1998).

#### Single Author Article

Cullen, H., "The Limits of International Trade Mechanisms in Enforcing Human Rights: the Case of Child Labour", *International Journal of Children's Rights* 1999 (7(1)), 1–29. DOI: 10.1163/15718189920494291.

#### Multi-Author Article

Where there are two authors the citation should follow the single author style. Where there are more than two authors, the reference within the text should be cited as Jones *et al.* and the year of publication, but in the reference list the names of *all* authors should be included.

#### References to Cases, Legislation, etc.

These should conform to the correct citation style of the relevant country and should be included in

Last revised on 9 June 2022

page 3 of 4

# The International Journal of Children's Rights

brill.com/chil



Instructions for Authors

brackets within the text.

(Gillick v West Norfolk and Wisbech A.H.A. [1986] AC 122)

## Publication

## **Proofs**

Upon acceptance, a PDF of the article proofs will be sent to authors by e-mail to check carefully for factual and typographic errors. Authors are responsible for checking these proofs and are strongly urged to make use of the Comment & Markup toolbar to note their corrections directly on the proofs. At this stage in the production process only minor corrections are allowed. Alterations to the original manuscript at this stage will result in considerable delay in publication and, therefore, are not accepted unless charged to the author. Proofs should be returned promptly.

#### E-Offprints

A PDF file of the article will be supplied free of charge by the publisher to authors for personal use. Brill is a RoMEO yellow publisher.

The Author retains the right to self-archive the submitted (pre-peer-review) version of the article at any time. The submitted version of an article is the author's version that has not been peer-reviewed, nor had any value added to it by Brill (such as formatting or copy editing). The Author retains the right to self-archive the accepted (peer-reviewed) version without any embargo period. The accepted version means the version which has been accepted for publication and contains all revisions made after peer reviewing and copy editing, but has not yet been typeset in the publisher's lay-out. The publisher's lay-out must not be used in any repository or on any website (<a href="mailto:brill.com/resources/authors/publishing-books-brill/self-archiving-rights">books-brill/self-archiving-rights</a>).

#### License to Publish

#### Transfer of Copyright

By submitting a manuscript, the author agrees that the copyright for the article is transferred to the publisher if and when the article is accepted for publication. For that purpose the author needs to sign the License to Publish which will be sent with the first proofs of the manuscript.

#### Open Access

Should the author wish to publish the article in Open Access he/she can choose the Brill Open option. This allows for non-exclusive Open Access publication under a Creative Commons licence in exchange for an Article Publication Charge (APC), upon signing a special Brill Open Consent to Publish Form. More information on Brill Open can be found on <a href="mailto:brillopen">brillopen</a>.

Last revised on 9 June 2022

page 4 of 4

## 2. Article

# The Right to Respect for Family Life and the Landmark Case of Strand Lobben

Ruslana Kotsiuba

## **Abstract**

This article delves into the reasoning behind the European Court of Human Rights decision in the landmark case of Strand Lobben and Others v. Norway. It examines how the court balanced the rights of the child and parent according to Article 8 of the European Convention on Human Rights. Through thematic analysis of the judgment and case study, the author identifies four ideal rationales - cosmopolitan, communitarian, instrumental, and civic republican - that guide the court's decision-making. The article demonstrates which rationale prevails and evaluates the coherency of the decision-making process. Lastly, the article emphasizes the importance of dignity and the cosmopolitan rationale in adhering to human rights standards in legal practice.

## **Keywords**

child's rights – parents' rights – dignity – best interests of the child – the right to respect for family life – the European Court of Human Rights – Strand Lobben.

## 2.1 Introduction

In recent years, massive attention from civil society and through mass media has focused on the Norwegian Child Protection Services (CPS) and child protection cases on the dockets before the European Court of Human Rights (ECtHR). On the European continent, this is the central catalog of human rights and where its jurisprudence evolves especially employing the court's interpretation of its rights provisions by ECtHR through its case law. The court has jurisdiction to hear allegations of violations of the Convention for the Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms (European Convention on Human Rights - ECHR). The court hears cases on receiving individual or inter-state applications upon exhausting all legal remedies within the nation-state. After the court reaches the judgment, the state must amend its legislation to align with the ECHR if it loses the case (European Court of Human

Rights, 2021). Although compliance and dedication to provide change vary, the idea is to allow human rights practices to become increasingly integrated into the nation-state legislative corpus. Thus, judgments and their consequences are obligatory for all member states. In a way, its demands are binding for all domestic authorities, and the national legislation should be amended to correspond to them and create legal harmony.

Norway ratified the European Convention on Human Rights in 1952, and in the period 1959-2022, a total number of 72 judgments has been delivered involving Norway; in 45 of them, the court found a violation of ECHR, and half of those cases (23 from 45) concerns the right to respect for family life (European Court of Human Rights, 2023). The loss of parental rights, at the heart of the right to respect for family life, has become influential in Norwegian law and has changed CPS practices (Christensen, 2020). According to the ECtHR, in 2023, there were over 40 pending cases against the Norwegian CPS, which is an unusually high number for this court. The court has recognized the CPS as interfering with the right to respect for family life, a concern as it is a small domestic public service.

In 2019 there were 23 pending cases against Norway in Strasbourg, one of them, the case of Strand Lobben and Others v. Norway (henceforth the Strand Lobben case), was processed in Grand Chamber Proceeding of the Court (Kolsrud, 2019). Several years before, in 2016, mass demonstrations against Norwegian CPS were held across 19 countries (Norman, 2016). Norwegian CPS was met with much criticism from many different sources. High-level politics, loud protests, and tensions in international diplomatic relations were involved in protesting the judicial proceedings on Norwegian CPS. The President of the Czech Republic even compared the CPS practices to what Nazi Germany did in the 1930s (Lohne et al., 2015)

In that atmosphere of public outrage and political pressure, the Strand Lobben case has become a landmark case in the practice of the ECtHR. The term "landmark case" describes a case of principled importance that will establish new laws and set new precedents (Black's Law Dictionary, 2023). It means the emergence of new legal concepts or principles and that landmark cases will significantly impact how existing laws can interpret, which has historical and legal significance (Judicial Learning Center, 2023). The Strand Lobben case was not merely about a small aspect of a CPS case but had reached a principled level of family politics and regulation across Europe. The case raised "a serious question affecting the interpretation or application of the Convention or the Protocols thereto, or a serious issue of general

*importance*" (Article 43 § 2 of the Convention). For that reason, it was presented for the Grand Chamber, which was meant to be the most significant court proceeding for Europe combined.

Moreover, from a legal perspective, the case has established legal precedent on the European continent and across nation-states, which means the judgment has created reasoning applied to similar cases in the future and work as guidance for judges in child's rights and CPS cases from one country to the next, including Norway. In other words, the general principles relevant to CPS measures set out in the Strand Lobben case judgment are fundamental in case-based reasoning.

As a landmark case, it assumes that courts further utilize the argumentation in their decisions on the national and international levels. The Norwegian Supreme Court's decisions extensively reference Strand Lobben in interpreting the right to respect for family life. The thirteen cases against Norway before the ECtHR already referred to Strand Lobben concerning various violations of the biological parent's right to family life. The Strand Lobben case is thereby consequential for years to come. Also, it means that all signatories to the convention will refer to that case as a legal pointer in decision-making by their domestic authorities and a driver for developing new legislation in the country if a violation of human rights is found.

Examining the reasoning by judges in the ECtHR and the so-called "friends of the court", we will in this article explore the opinions within the Strand Lobben judgment, both views of judges and amicus briefs, and seek to identify the prevailing rationales that guide the ideas and the decision itself. In this effort, we will seek to discover different arguments that illustrate the prevalence of different normative rationales that all claim to uphold human rights. We will, in this article, *first* present the synopsis of the Strand Lobben judgment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The term "amicus" generally refers to an advisor to a judge who is not involved in the trial as a party. The idea behind this is that the amicus is impartial and provides legal expertise or insight. However, in reality, interest groups sometimes misuse their status as "friend of the court" to sway the court in favor of their own interests. Article 36 of the ECHR stipulates third party intervention in § 2: "The President of the Court may, in the interest of the proper administration of justice, invite any High Contracting Party which is not a party to the proceedings or any person concerned who is not the applicant to submit written comments or take part in hearings."

There are 11 amicus briefs in the Strand Lobben, which are considered third parties in the trial. These briefs are divided into two categories: those submitted by the State parties of the ECHR and those submitted by other organizations.

Secondly, we will lay out a theoretical proposition for what cosmopolitan rationale entails. Thirdly, we will offer a typology of rationales that allows us to identify the prevalence of the rationales and what rationale is active whenever we are not faced with a cosmopolitan rationale such as communitarian, instrumental, and civic republican. Fourth, based on the suggested analytical model, we discuss the prevalence of different rationales within the judgment in the decision. Fifth, and finally, we discuss the coherency or incoherency within the decision itself.

## 2.2 The Strand Lobben decision, concurrent- and dissenting opinions

In the Strand Lobben case, the ECtHR holds the violation of Article 8 of the ECHR in favor of the biological mother and her child's rights (the applicants) to respect for family life (The European Court of Human Rights, 2019b). The court decision was adopted by thirteen votes to four. There were two rounds of the proceeding. In the first round, the Chamber held no violation of Article 8 (by four votes to three), and in the second round, the referral of the case to the Grand Chamber was granted. As indicated in the judgment §§ 161: "the particular context concerning Norway, namely that there was widespread criticism both national and internationally of the Norwegian child welfare system, indicating a serious systemic problem" (The European Court of Human Rights, 2019a).

The first applicant, pregnant in May 2008, requested help to become the best mother possible. She was informed that the parent-child institution was voluntary, and they could leave anytime. After giving birth to a son (the second applicant) on September 25<sup>th</sup>, the staff grew concerned about her ability to provide the child with proper care. The institution had implemented a system of 24-hour monitoring to ensure close oversight. On October 17th, the decision was made to place the second applicant, who was only three weeks old, in an emergency foster home. The first applicant opposed the emergency decision, claiming that she and her child could live together and were willing to accept support from CPS. A care order was issued on March 2nd, 2009, which specified that there would be two hours of contact between parties six times a year. It was confirmed on April 22nd, 2010, that the baby would remain in foster care. The first applicant lost her parental rights on December 8th, 2011, and the adoption was approved. She requested an evaluation of their ability to provide sufficient care for their family, arguing that her caregiving skills had improved since getting married and having a second child. However, the appeals were rejected.

The applicants filed a complaint with the ECtHR on April 12th, 2013. They claimed that the domestic authorities violated their right to family life by not lifting the care order for the second applicant and taking away the first applicant's parental responsibilities, allowing for his adoption by his foster parents.

The ECtHR found that authorities had failed to perform a genuine balancing exercise between the interests of the children and the biological parents (The European Court of Human Rights, 2019a). The case presents diverse opinions on how the human right to respect for family life should be upheld. The judges were divided into two groups: those who supported the decision and explained their reasons and those who opposed it due to the absence of any ECHR violations. This makes the case attractive to study.

## 2.3 Method and data

The complexity of the research question calls for an interdisciplinary approach combining legal- and political science perspectives with social sciences methodologies of thematic analysis of document data and case studies. We apply these methods to trace and analyze the prevalence of different decision-making rationales within the Strand Lobben judgment and adjacent documents. Furthermore, we trace within the document the prevalence of rationales that motivates what leads to the various decisions. The case study of a singular decision aims to generate an in-depth interpretation of the right to respect for family life in multi-faced contexts. The data were derived from the public register LovData (www.lovdata.no), UN document data, which provides access to online legal resources, and HUDOC, which offers access to the case law of the ECtHR on child's rights reviews and studies as well as to the policy documents of the court on "impact" cases.

## 2.4 Human Rights Theory and the Cosmopolitan Rationale

In this article, we will draw on Jürgen Habermas' rationality of adjudication and his analysis of Ronald Dworkin's turn to a deontological concept of rights to explain how judicial decision-making can simultaneously satisfy the requirements of legal certainty and rational acceptability (Habermas, 1996). Combining these two theoretical strands will unveil what we will refer to as the approach to the *cosmopolitan rationale* in our study.

Cosmopolitanism is an intellectual position — or, more precisely, a family of such positions; the central idea guiding these moral assessments and prescriptions is that of

including all human beings as equals and who carry an equal rights claim to equal worth equal dignity (Pogge, 2012). The idea of equal dignity is the conceptual hinge that connects the *morality* of equal respect for everyone with positive law and democratic lawmaking in such a way that their interplay could give rise to a political order founded upon human rights (Habermas, 2010).

The historical roots for such an approach are often pinpointed at Immanuel Kant and his approach to moral cosmopolitanism in the 1790s, claiming that all rational beings, irrespective of their race, should be regarded as ends in themselves and as lawgiving members of 'the universal kingdom of ends' (Cavallar, 2012).

After the Second World War, this idea was implemented in the general provisions of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights (UDHR): "All human beings are born free and equal in dignity and rights" (United Nations, 2015), and is now in addition to a moral cosmopolitanism also a practical cosmopolitanism through formal human rights norms and human rights instruments. The UDHR presents what the Preamble calls a "common understanding" of human rights and represents what the Proclamation Clause calls "a common standard of achievement for all peoples and all nations" (Brown, 2016). It is a foundational document with the universalistic inclusion of all humanity in a set of morally relevant subjects of political concern and action (Moyn, 2014).

Dignity is a defining concept for interpreting cosmopolitan rationale equal to a human rights standard. Dignity is commonly invoked in declarations of human rights and by oppressed groups appealing for support; dignity is also widely associated with competence — with having capacities and being able to act effectively; respect and supporting someone's dignity involves recognizing them as a whole person, with a history, achievements, needs, concerns, commitments (Sayer, 2017). Dignity is a red line across all human rights; it grounds "the indivisibility of all categories of human rights"; there is a strong connection between rights and dignity because dignity itself is "the moral "source" from which all the basic rights derive their meaning (Habermas, 2010).

According to J. Habermas, despite the abstract meaning of human dignity, it depends on the social recognition of a status closely connected with membership: the status of democratic citizenship (Habermas, 2010). It means that in constitutional democratic political order can be granted equal rights and equal human dignity and protection from human rights

violations. Based on it, dignity as a moral and political concept leads to equality and provides substance for human rights rationale enforcing them.

Appealing to the concept of dignity, it is easier to reach a consensus when negotiating human rights with different cultural contexts, neutralizing unbridgeable differences in this way, judges apply it to introduce a new right or to treat the violation of human dignity in view of discriminations, or a view of the marginalization of social groups. In this sense, it helps better protection of civil rights or construct new one (Habermas, 2010).

Speaking about a "Janus face" of human rights turned simultaneously to morality and law, Habermas writes that they are designed to be *spelled out in concrete terms* through democratic legislation, to be *specified* from case to case in adjudication, and to be *enforced* in cases of violations (Habermas, 1996). Here it assumes that normative connotations are mediated through the concept of dignity going forward, while simultaneously applied contextually here and now, dignity is presupposed prior to any existence of any rights, and the concept of dignity becomes the source of each individual's rights (Falch-Eriksen, 2022).

The moral concept of dignity guides understanding the law in view of human rights rationale. It comes from Dworkin's dispute that the mere legality of the legislative procedure legitimates law. He says, "Legal discourse is independent of morality and politics only in the sense that moral principles and political policies must also be translated into the neutral language of law and connected to the legal code. Beneath this unity of the code, however, one finds that legitimate law involves a complex notion of validity. It explains why landmark decisions and important precedents usually admit reasons of extra-legal origin, hence pragmatic, ethical, and moral considerations, into legal discourse" (Habermas, 1996). Thus, it gives us a source of argumentation that got into a court decision and accompanied several rounds of the trial in the Strand Lobben case.

Therefore, if legal discourse is not aligned with a cosmopolitan ethos, the question of the validity and legitimacy of law can raise. But, on the other hand, it also sends us to justify the decision by its coherence. To solve the problem of how judicial reasoning can simultaneously satisfy the principle of legal certainty and the legitimate claim of law, R. Dworkin, according to J. Habermas, looks to an ambitious theory that enables one, especially in complicated cases, to justify the individual decision by its coherence with a rationally reconstructed history of existing law (Habermas, 1996).

In this sense, human rights rationale serves as a filter for the validity and legitimacy of rules, a pointer for coherency in decision-making.

The cosmopolitan approach is embedded in the ECHR in Article 1: "The High Contracting Parties shall secure to everyone within their jurisdiction the rights and freedoms defined in ... this Convention". The right to respect for family life is a human right "for everyone" that belongs to all humans and is relevant to all human rights. It assumes that the ECHR equally protects both adults and children. In this way, the rights figure through the ECtHR jurisprudence must be understood according to the human rights rationale that calls for protecting the individual dignity of every person. It means that each carries equal dignity and is bestowed equal protection. In our study, we focus on the rights of a parent.

From this perspective, the right to respect for family life works for children and parents when in a family differently. However, the dignity of both are equally respected. A parent's right to respect for family life must communicate with the child's right to respect for family life and build a complex understanding because of cosmopolitan rationale.

International human rights documents secure the right to respect for family life. According to Article 16 para 3 of the UDHR: "The family is the natural and fundamental group unit of society and is entitled to protection by society and the State." Therefore, it should operate in composition with safeguarding the child's dignity and best interests. It also means that the authorities should ensure the rights of a parent.

In addition to it, the Preamble of CRC recognizes the primary position of the family: "the family, as the fundamental group of society and the natural environment for the growth and well-being of all its members and particularly children, should be afforded the necessary protection and assistance so that it can fully assume its responsibilities within the community"; "States Parties shall respect the responsibilities, rights and duties of parents... to provide, in a manner consistent with the evolving capacities of the child, appropriate direction and guidance in the exercise by the child of the rights recognized in the present Convention" (Article 5).

In this manner, children have the right to respect for family life as equal rights holders. Simultaneously, it speaks about the obligations of parents to provide for children's development. Both children and adults create a family as an environment for the well-being

of all its members, with a surplus focus on children and ensuring them necessary protection and assistance.

In contrast, the European Convention on Human Rights in Article 8 guarantees the right to family life for parents and protects private life against interference. In this view, a well-established case law is created by judges on how to respect for family life and in what way it should be interpreted.

For instance, the case law of the ECtHR refers to the interference in family life caused by measures adopted by the authorities to take a child from the power of the parents to take care of it in a public institution or to place it with a foster or adoptive family requiring balancing the rights of the parents to maintain a family life with their children, and the interests of others, mainly the interest of the child, and in some cases, the interest of the foster or adoptive family (Pascual & Pérez, 2018). In this way, it focuses on protecting the parent's right to respect family life and supporting the family bonds with their children.

Considerations of family unity and reunification in cases of separation are a part of the right to respect for family life. Therefore, both the child's best interests and the aim of family reunification must be included in the balance (Alvik, 2021).

The child's interests can be interpreted differently, claiming the same human rights standard. In a *cosmopolitan* spirit, the point of departure focuses on the above concepts of dignity and equality. Here the idea of best interests is significant for all decision-making, including the judiciary, in any decision-making stage.

According to Article 3 para 1 of the CRC: "In all actions concerning children, whether undertaken by public or private social welfare institutions, courts of law, administrative authorities or legislative bodies, the best interests of the child shall be a primary consideration." Therefore, in broad terms, the CRC should be constitutive to professional practice through decision-making and policy development. In this aspect, child protection services need to become rights-based to develop legal rules complying with human rights and a system of protection that maintains the ethos of a human rights standard (Falch-Eriksen, 2018).

Thus, the main argument when CPS intervenes and revokes family life is that it is in the child's best interests for parents to no longer care for the child temporarily or permanently. Following the idea that children are holders of negative rights, they have their right to freedom from interference. Children must be protected according to their needs when subjected to detrimental care against the best interest principle. Parents or authorities act as proxies to manage children's negative rights until adulthood. If parents fail to provide non-detrimental care, the state should protect the child's negative right to liberty through intervention. This version of negative rights is cosmopolitan and maintains a human rights standard.

Article 19 of the CRC stipulates the child protection system of each state in order "to protect the child from all forms of physical or mental violence, injury or abuse, neglect or negligent treatment, maltreatment or exploitation, including sexual abuse, while in the care of parent(s), legal guardian(s) or any other person who has the care of the child." Therefore, it means all states must have a proper child protection system to prevent abuse against children.

Children need special protection that adults do not need. This type of protection differs from the others as children cannot decide how they want to be protected or to raise a legal claim on their behalf. It links to the application of the child's best interests concept. It involves the issue of balancing parental rights to family life with securing the child's rights to health and development and family life.

The right to protection has roots in the individual negative right to liberty. In contrast to adults, children are a special case. In this context, we can say they have future right to personal liberty, as they cannot perform rights or act upon freedom, or carry responsibilities because of biological age, and it concerns positive obligations. A child holds the negative right to liberty, e.g., freedom of speech, family life, or privacy, which is fundamental for a rights-based system, with the right to membership rights and legal remedies. It means that excluding children from carrying rights because of immaturity is not a reason because children have a future right to individual liberty and get only access to it once reaching adulthood. If parents violate a child's negative right to liberty, the state must intervene to repair the child's integrity.

In this way, any decisions by the CPS or the judiciary revoking family life should be taken on **the unity** of understanding the purpose of human rights. It should be a cosmopolitan rationale that is foundational for the protection of the individual dignity of everyone.

Therefore, all decisions taken irrespectively political considerations are based on respect for human rights standard.

Creating unity is the basis for the validity of law (Alexy, 2002). According to J. Habermas, to fulfill the socially integrative function of the legal order and the legitimacy claim of law, court rulings must satisfy simultaneously the conditions of *consistent decision-making* and *rational acceptability;* because these conditions do not easily harmonize, two sets of criteria must be reconciled in the practice of adjudication (Habermas, 1996). It is said both guarantees, *certainty*, and *legitimacy*, must be simultaneously redeemed at the level of judicial decision-making; legal certainty demands decisions that can be consistently rendered within the framework of the existing legal order, while the claim to legitimacy requires decisions that are supposed to be rationally grounded in the matter at issue so that all participants can accept them as rational decisions (Habermas, 1996).

Thus, **the coherency** of decision-making can be seen as rationally acceptable, certain, and consistent. That is the core idea of the courts' coherent judgment when CPS intervenes. However, the general agreement is that the coherence must amount to more than logical consistency amongst propositions. Unfortunately, it is not clear from many coherent accounts precisely what this something more amounts to (Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy, 2010). In older studies, coherence is viewed in terms of the unity of principle in a legal system; the place of arguments depends on a postulated requirement of 'coherence' in the law, contending that the coherence of a set of legal norms consists in their being related either in virtue of being the realization of some common value or values or in virtue of fulfilling some common principle or principles (MacCormick, 1994).

A more formal definition of coherence means, for example, a minimally coherent legal system: "A necessary condition for a decision to be legally justified, even in a hard case, is that it coheres with established law or coheres best with established law, or such a decision is the correct one in a sense of being antecedently correct about the law" (Levenbook, 1984). Coherence is not always sufficient to legally justify a decision, and it should be taken into account the nature of coherence, agree on the role of coherence in moral or empirical justification, and has a special and more limited legal justification (Levenbook, 1984).

Based on it, B. Levenbook, in her article, disputes R. Dworkin's role of coherence in legal justification as analogous to its role in the moral and scientific rationale and the reliance

on the concept of coherence. Nevertheless, the idea of coherence as a particular virtue of interpretation in legal reasoning plays an important role. Dworkin's theory is influential; he believes that judges should follow in fulfilling this task - 'law as integrity' - 'instructs judges to identify legal rights and duties, so far as possible, on the assumption that they were created by a single author—the community personified' (Dworkin, 2013). His theory states, "As a standard for a statement's validity, coherence is weaker than the analytic truth secured by logical deduction but stronger than mere freedom from contradiction. Coherence between statements is established by substantial arguments (in Toulmin's sense) and hence by reasons that have the pragmatic property of bringing about a rationally motivated agreement among participants in argumentation. It also explains why the concept of coherence employed in constructive interpretation resists purely semantic characterizations and refers to the pragmatic presuppositions of the argumentative process" (Habermas, 1996).

Judges decide actual cases within the horizon of a present future, and their opinions claim validity in the light of rules and principles that are here and now accepted as legitimate (Habermas, 1996). From a *cosmopolitan* perspective, judicial decision-making must fulfill the requirements of legal certainty and rational acceptability, and it should be ruled coherently. Disagreement is nevertheless a part of court practices and contradiction.

Considering this, rights are perceived as requirements with great importance - overriding the public good or utilitarian considerations; be contrasted with the unqualified process of balancing competing interests and goals - a balancing which is most characteristically exemplified in the economically oriented method of decision-making termed "cost-benefit analysis," or utility-maximization (Harel, 2005, p. 191).

A cosmopolitan rational coherency of court decisions means unity of understanding of human rights standard, where dignity glues the rights in one system, ensuring legal certainty and legitimacy of law. In this way, to have a coherent decision on the right to respect for family life anticipates defining and promoting a jurisprudence including children's and parent's rights simultaneously. Human rights are absolute and are considered as trumps.

## 2.5 Analytical Model – Competing Rationales.

The reason for developing the analytical model *Figure 1* is to explain what type of rationale is prevalent when it is not purely cosmopolitan and which, in its purest ideal manner, aligns with

what human rights call for. The additional explanations will be called *communitarian*, *instrumental*, and *civic republican*. The list may not be exhaustive. With these rationales, we will construct our analytical model, which will assist us in identifying the prevalence of different grounds across opinions and examine to what extent the court decision is coherent on the issue of the right to family life. Additionally, from these perspectives, we will analyze what family life implies, how dignity is protected, what can be understood as a child's best interest logic, and how parental and child's rights are related in family life.

Figure 1: Analytical Model

Cosmopolitan Rationale		
Purpose of human rights:	Law:	Practice of adjudication:
Protection of individual dignity of everyone	Universal	"Rights-as-trumps"

#### Interpretation:

- The concept of human rights involves upholding the dignity of all individuals regardless of their jurisdiction or societal status
- Dignity serves as the foundation for all basic rights, which should be universally applied to all members of society, regardless of citizenship, age, or identity
- Children are entitled to the same rights as adults, and the rights of both parents and children should be equally respected
- Professional practices, including those of CPS, should be based on a rights-based approach
- Decisions should be made impartially and without political considerations, with a focus on respecting human rights and promoting a universal standard of ethics
- Failure to align legal discourse with cosmopolitan values can jeopardize the validity and legitimacy of the law
- In the context of child protection, decisions should be made based on the child's best interests.

Communitarian Rationale		
Purpose of human rights:	Law:	Practice of adjudication:
Protection of citizens and integration into	Regional	Rights as values
a collective identity		
Interpretation:		

- human rights work if they integrate into a collective identity as a common good and reflect the ethic of the social order
- human rights are seen as the promotion of underlying common values and what is best for the members of the community in a line of self-understanding
- rights call to build solidarity regarding membership rights and a view of belonging to the community
- ethical doctrine is based on the wish to preserve traditional family values, biological family bonds, and the idea of family reunification, and the aim is to maintain public order
- human rights are also respected by well-established case law that is created by judges on how to respect for family life and in what way it should be interpreted
- decision making is based on the leading role of cultural norms in assessing the case and prioritization the mentioned values
- children's rights are seen as patriarchally subordinate to the householder when decisions are made by the patriarch that leads to the excluding children from carrying rights because of immaturity
- understanding the child's best interests in the context of kinship ties and birth
- legal discourse is built around the interests of the citizens and the majority to protect national interests when the majority's considerations and opinions overrule minority rights
- the validity of human rights relies on whether they correspond to the collective selfunderstanding of the society

Instrumental Rationale		
Purpose of human rights:	Law:	Practice of adjudication:
Successful achieving an objective	Any	Rights as targets

#### Interpretation:

- human rights are called to serve the purpose of contributing to a defined objective, usually because of economic priorities and financial burdens for the society
- human rights depend on the desired outcome and efficacy
- cost-benefit analysis is fundamental for decision-making with an emphasis on effective problem-solving
- children's rights are implied as a social investment for taking future advantage
- little focus on collective responsibilities beyond the interests of the country

- legal discourse relates to preferences and political priorities and is designed to promote the aim of the policymakers
- the child's best interests are understood subjectively in the way of the defined purpose,
   like family reunification with the birth parents in cases where the authorities removed a child
- decisions rely on the discretion of a social worker on how they understand the child's interest
- protection of the right to respect for family life depends on ranking either a parent's or a child's right in view of effectiveness
- law is implemented with the aim of exclusion the costliest measures, such as state intervention in family affairs, depends on the availability of resources for public measures

Civic Republican Rationale		
Purpose of human rights:	Law:	Practice of adjudication:
Ensuring the public good of the community	National	Rights as collective self-
		rules

#### Interpretation:

- human rights envisage the idea of public good from which everyone benefits, and rules
   should be designed in a way democratically decided
- human rights are what the majority will approve and value if they match sovereignty and social contract within the community
- decision-making is based on the preferences and values of the self-governing community
- the court reflects the expectations of society's priorities, and popular sovereignty guides the political agenda
- human rights are respected because of the expectation for all persons to contribute to the common good to be considered part of the community
- the child's best interests are secured in a manner the nation-state ensures a common good and can receive different degrees of priority
- the right to respect for family life is seen as securing the liberty of an adult (parent) from interference
- child rights depend on the majority's rulings and choices
- children are excluded from participation and do not influence the rule of law

 legal discourse is defined according to majority rule, not focusing on the protection of minorities

## 2.6 Analysis – Prevalence of Different Rationales Across Opinions

The cosmopolitan rationale is the one that, in its purest form, aligns with human rights. Cosmopolitism, or in other words, a *human rights rationale*, is applied from the perspective of securing the dignity of all members of the society dealing with different jurisdictions. It assumes that all decisions are made irrespective of political considerations and are based on respect for human rights.

From the *communitarian rationale*, a shared identity is deemed best for the members of a social community (Habermas, 1996). It indicates membership built on belonging to the community where human rights work if they integrate into a collective identity as the common good and reflect the ethic of the social order. Predisposition to traditional family values reflects its central point.

An *instrumental rationale* provides test cases for securing more effective and streamlined services. From this view, the court's efficacy is prioritized to ensure legal consistency, practicality, and coherency in its rulings. Legal rules are designed to promote the aim of the policymakers (Kornhauser, 2005, p. 70). It is limited by effective problem-solving through cost-benefit analysis whereby ensuring rights depends on economic and political priorities and the specific purpose of policymakers. The interest of the decision-making could be the result-oriented idea to arrange the child's best interest principle in the case law.

How the popular will of a country balances with constitutional or more fixed rights forms can be explained by the *civic republican rationale*. Honohan puts it as a "…politically defined freedom" (Honohan, 2002, p. 207). It envisages the idea of public good from which everyone benefits, and rules should be designed in a way democratically decided.

When we look at the reasonings presented before the court and those laid as the basis for the court's decision, we might find opinions not aligned with a cosmopolitan ethos.

In the **main panel of judges,** an overview of general principles the so-called well-established in the Court's case law leads to the point that "the mutual enjoyment by parent and child of each other's company constitutes a fundamental element of family life" in §§ 202

of the Strand Lobben judgment. The Court refers to the precedential argumentation on the interference "in accordance with law," "necessary in a democratic society," in the light of the case as a whole, the reasons adduced to justify measure for the purposes of paragraph 2 of Article 8 (§§ 202-203). Finally, it refers to a broad consensus, including in international law, in support of the idea that "in all decisions concerning children, their best interests are of paramount importance," "in cases involving the care of children and contact restrictions, the child's interests must come before all other considerations" (§§ 204).

The focus on the importance of biological ties and traditional family values represents a *communitarian* rationale for the importance of the natural ties that are best for the community members. Birth parents and kinship are values that play the role of belonging to the society's identity. It considers that the right to respect for family life covers the right of biological parents' rights and should be balanced against the best interests of the child.

We may observe *civic republican rationale* built into the judgment as a fundamental principle for establishing a legitimate rule of law - necessary in a democratic society. On the opposite, the *cosmopolitan* rational holds it as protection of individual rights without a focus on democracy and the restrictions it sets. Children are not excluded from participation and do not depend on the majority's rulings and choices. If to apply the *civic republican* ground focuses on the priority of the traditional family as a public good accepted by the self-understanding of the "majority."

The Court mentions that regard to family unity and reunification in the event of separation is inherent considerations to enforce a right to respect for family life. Although the domestic authorities should strike a fair balance between the interest of a child and those of the parents come into conflict, it requires to strike a fair balance between those interests and that, in balancing process interests of the child depending on their nature and seriousness may override those of the parents (§§ 205-206).

Concerning care order, according to the Court's argumentation, it should be regarded as a temporary measure and should be consistent with the ultimate aim of reuniting the natural parents and the child; the authorities may not base the decision to authorize adoption on the grounds of the absence of bond between the parents and the child; the ties between members of a family and the prospects of their successful reunification depend on their having easy and regular access to each other; the interest of a child not to have their *de facto* 

family situation changed may override the interests of the parents to have their family reunited (§§ 208).

The right to respect for family life implies if based on *instrumental* logic, the aim of reuniting the natural parents and the child. Protection in this way depends on the desired outcome "to rebuild" the family as soon as circumstances permit. In contrast, the instrumental rationale is traced if a child's interests are ranked because of effectiveness. It leads to the decision to leave a child in foster care and limits access to birth parents regarding the best interests principle.

Implementing those core case-law principles to the Strand Lobben case, the Court sums up that the process leading to the withdrawal of parental responsibilities and consent to adoption shows that the domestic authorities did not attempt to perform a genuine balancing exercise between the interests of the child and his biological family, but focused on the child's interests instead of trying to combine both sets of interests, and did not seriously contemplate any possibility of the child's reunification with his biological family; there had only been very limited contact between the natural parent and the child; the purpose was not to establish a relationship with a view to the child's future return to the care of his biological mother (§§ 220-221).

In **concurring opinion** presented by seventh judges, there were two types of opinions annexed to the judgment, on the one hand, those judges who agreed with the outcome of the case lodging their own reasoning, and on the other hand, those of them who voted against the decision because of the absence of any violations of the ECHR.

Judges argue that the Court has held that it is "in principle in a child's interests to preserve family ties, save where weighty reasons exist to justify severing those ties," however the child's *de facto* family life and family ties may be almost exclusively with the foster family rather than the biological parent(s). On the one hand, the Court has been concerned about the impact of time on the prospects of successful family reunification. On the other hand, it may weigh against such reunification. It reflects the purpose of *instrumental rationale* with emphasis on effective "successful" problem-solving.

Judges explain that it should also be recognized (by which time the child had already lived for three years and four months with the foster parents) the balancing exercise between the interests of the child and those of his biological family would almost inevitably have led

to the result of the child remaining with his foster family. Accordingly, the authorities in the present case failed from the outset to pursue the aim of reuniting the child with his mother. Still, they immediately envisaged him growing up in the foster home.

The communitarian rationale is observed in the statement about the child's interests in preserving family ties. Instrumental rationality is seen in the aim of family reunification that, over time, can be rejected by the already developed child's ties with his foster family.

The concern about political influence was noted in one judge's opinion agreeing with the main panel but had more to give. He wrote that the fundamental problem dealt with in this case lies not only and not so much in the concrete circumstances of the applicant's case but rather in certain specificities of the Norwegian policy, which underlies the impugned decisions and the process as a whole. He assures that many third-party interveners include those States whose authorities have had to deal with the consequences for their under-age citizens of "the decisions taken by Norway's *Barnevernet*." Here *instrumental* rationale probably works as negative feedback from other states with the Norwegian CPS. The judge also indicates the policy influence on the trial by the popular opinion expressed in protests and amicus briefs that is a reduced version of *civil republican* rationale.

In the **dissenting opinion** of four other judges who voted against the decision, the argumentation focuses on the issue of how to reconcile the "sanctity" of the biological family with the child's best interests. From their perspective, reuniting the biological family gives the impression that its aim might override the child's best interests. They assert two approaches be traced to the history and context of each legal instrument: the ECtHR is rooted in the protection, and balancing, of the rights of everyone within a State's jurisdiction, including those who have formed a family, whereas the CRC is focused on strengthening and protecting children as holders of distinct individual rights. *The cosmopolitan* rationale is reflected in the reference to the protection of the rights of everyone, including both a parent's and a child's right to respect for family life.

In the opinion of the minority judges, the domestic authorities must be allowed a wide margin of appreciation in determining whether the child's best interests require that they be taken into public care. Otherwise, the ECtHR "in effect curtails the margin of appreciation that it is important to preserve." *The civic republican* rationale is seen here in the power of making decisions by national bodies on what is defined in the child's best interest and how popular

opinion guides the agenda expecting to decide what parenthood entails, reflecting the society in general if it expects from the domestic authorities to focus whether on the interests of biological parents or the child.

The dissenting opinion also mentioned that "the majority dislike the outcome of the case at the domestic level and have sought to address the substantive objections or misgivings under the guise of procedural shortcomings." *The instrumental* rationale is acting because of the negative outcome of the case regarding the withdrawal of parental rights and breach of the biological family for both: a mother and a child.

The motivation part of the judgment includes **amicus briefs** that differ from the judge's argumentation in the general court considerations. The status of amicus is regulated by the ECHR, being procedural as a third-parties intervention.

The communitarian rationale is revealed in statements about the primary protection of the biological family; the best interests principle is not a "trump card"; biological parents' rights should be balanced against the child's best interests.

Instrumental rational manifests in reuniting the natural parents and the child are the ultimate aim; allowing the natural parents to represent a child who had a protected family life with foster or adoptive parents does not ensure an effective protection of the child's rights; in the best interests of the child is to seek to combine the family life between children and the foster parents; positive duty to facilitate family reunification; child welfare services must facilitate family reunification.

The civic republican rationale is recognized because only national decision-makers can carry out the necessary assessment to ensure the public good of the community.

# 2.7 Discussion: Prevalence of Rationales – Coherently Cosmopolitan or Not

Answering the question of the prevailing rationales that guide the decision-making of the ECtHR for the landmark case of Strand Lobben, different normative grounds illustrate the claim of what upholds human rights.

In the Stand Lobben, CPS violated the right of a parent to respect for family life by appealing to the child's best interest to be removed the three weeks baby from the mother because of her incapability to care. A mother's request for assistance in CPS is an essential legal fact that did not get careful consideration and led to breaching her rights. Instead, the

institution focused exceptionally on the interests of children, interpreting them instrumentally, ranking and separating them from the other rights. However, the substance of the right to respect for family life is considering a parent's and child's interests.

Further, judging what it takes to safeguard the human dignity of a parent and a child from the Strand Lobben if to apply the *cosmopolitan* rationale, it had no focus that everyone: a child and a parent, are equal in their right to respect for family life. Therefore, children are equal rights holders and create a special case from the CRC. Instead, the court's argumentation formally referred to the child's best interests as paramount, prioritizing them above a parent's right.

Interpretation of Art. 8 of the ECHR narrows to the obligation of authorities to take measures to facilitate family reunification on the value of biological ties between people – *communitarian* rational. In contrast, in the dissenting opinion of judges, the prevalence of *instrumental* rationale is identified as successfully achieving an objective: rebuilding the family, or vice versa, the efficacy of ranking the child's interests.

The Strand Lobben case demonstrates the implementation of opposed approaches to understanding human rights rationale. The fundamental right to respect for family life reveals differences in the vision of human rights rationale within the decision that led to incoherency of adjudication.

The problem with conceiving family life according to *communitarian* and *instrumental* rationales does not collide with cosmopolitanism. The crucial question concerns whether parents' or child's rights and interests should be taken into primary consideration in a case of conflicting interests. Balancing resolves a conflict between competing principles (rights, interests) which pull into different directions, allowing for bringing the principles into practical concordance (Klatt, 2020). In contrast, balancing is not an alternative to argumentation but an indispensable form of rational, practical discourse (Alexy, 2003).

It remains controversial how the child-centric approach will develop in the ECtHR practice and whether it passes the test of enforcing the dignity of each rights-holder. Supporting the communitarian approach by the ECtHR, the provisions of the CRC and the UDHR are not implemented as human rights standards in a cosmopolitan sense.

More precisely, in the example of the Strand Lobben case, we observe applying the concepts of practice utilizing rationality based on *instrumental* ideas with a problem-solving

approach. In this aspect, *communitarianism* prevails in the Strand Lobben judgment, namely in the precedential argumentation of the ECtHR. The competing logic of the ECHR with CRC testifies to the lack of a coherent theory of the child's rights and the need to develop multi-disciplinary competencies for the judiciary.

Regarding this, courts are set up to reduce the legal uncertainty inherent in all legislation, and they draw legitimacy from fulfilling that purpose; however, such uncertainty also makes room for policy-oriented considerations, and one way to promote consistency within a policy domain is to ensure specialization, expertise is needed (Hermansen, 2020).

The coherent system of rights, namely, the right to respect for private and family life, supposes a shared understanding and a *cosmopolitan* rationale to guide reason in decision-making across the countries stipulated by CRC and Art. 8 of the ECHR. Accordingly, family life should be understood because of cosmopolitan ideas related to the universality of human rights standard, common categories of fairness, equality, inalienability, and indivisibility of rights for every human being.

## 2.8 Conclusion: The Challenge of Lack of Coherency

Based on the theoretical exposition of what human rights entail and what a cosmopolitan rationale demands, the balance struck between the child's- and parent's right to respect for family life in the case of Strand Lobben does not align with the *cosmopolitan rationale*. As a foundational ethos of a cosmopolitan rationale, the cosmopolitan explanation holds the respect and protection of human dignity as a point of departure for interpreting both parents' and child's rights.

Regarding arguments through the developed analytical model of rationales as the filter, the ECtHR decision in Strand Lobben is incoherent, crossing multiple grounds and where the cosmopolitan rationale was not dominating. In this manner, the judgment does not uphold the legal certainty standard and can be interpreted ambiguously and deemed politically determined.

The child's right to respect family life is not embedded in the practice of the ECtHR and will most likely never be. However, it has a "banner status" in the view that Article 8 of the ECHR is the only applicable law for the court to judge and that the CRC can only be a source for the court to reach its decision. With the current court practices in Art.8, the ECHR is currently protecting parental rights and has no clear understanding of the child's right to

respect family life and how it relates to the parent having the same right and with the same core aim of securing dignity. Protecting family life, including the rights of children and parents, is being discussed with the concept of dignity and implementing provisions in the CRC. By adhering to human rights standards, parents can regain their right to family life, and the number of violations of the right to respect for family life by the Norwegian CPS can be minimized.

### 2.9 References

- Alexy, R. (2002). The Argument From Injustice: A Reply to Legal Positivism
- Alexy, R. (2003). Constitutional Rights, Balancing, and Rationality. *Ratio Juris*, *16*(2), 131-140. https://www.corteidh.or.cr/tablas/a63.pdf
- Alvik, I. F. (2021). SAMVÆR ETTER OMSORGSOVERTAKELSE en undersøkelse av praksis fra fylkesnemnder og lagmannsretter.

  https://www2.bufdir.no/globalassets/global/nbbf/barnevern/samvar\_etter\_omsorg
  sovertakelse\_en\_undersokelse\_av\_praksis\_fra\_fylkesnemnder\_og\_lagmannsretter.p

  df
- BBS News. (14 April 2016). Norway's Barnevernet: They took our four children... then the baby. https://www.bbc.com/news/magazine-36026458
- Black's Law Dictionary, n. E. (2023). Landmark Case. In https://thelawdictionary.org/landmark-case/
- Breen, C., Krutzinna, J., Luhamaa, K., & Skivenes, M. (2020). Family Life for Children in State Care: An Analysis of the European Court of Human Rights' Reasoning on Adoption Without Consent. *The International Journal of Children's Rights*, 28(4), 715-747.
- Brown, G. (2016). The Universal Declaration of Human Rights in the 21st Century: A Living Document in a Changing World.

  <a href="https://www.equalrightstrust.org/ertdocumentbank/Brown-Universal-Declaration-Human-Rights-21C.pdf">https://www.equalrightstrust.org/ertdocumentbank/Brown-Universal-Declaration-Human-Rights-21C.pdf</a>
- Bufdir. (2022). Arsrapport 2022. <a href="https://www2.bufdir.no/globalassets/global/nbbf/bufdir/arsrapport">https://www2.bufdir.no/globalassets/global/nbbf/bufdir/arsrapport</a> 2022 barne u ngdoms og familiedirektoratet.pdf
- Cavallar, G. (2012). Cosmopolitanisms in Kant's philosophy. *Ethics & Global Politics*. https://doi.org/10.3402/egp.v5i2.14924
- Christensen, L. (2020). *The European Convention on Human Rights turns 70 years*. <a href="https://www.jus.uio.no/pluricourts/english/news-and-events/news/2020/echr-70-years.html">https://www.jus.uio.no/pluricourts/english/news-and-events/news/2020/echr-70-years.html</a>
- CONSENT. (2018). *About the Project*. Retrieved 05.05.2023 from <a href="https://consent-project.org/en/about-us/about-project">https://consent-project.org/en/about-us/about-project</a>
- Cronin, C. (2011). Jürgen Habermas: Key Concepts In B. Fultner (Ed.), *Cosmopolitan democracy* (pp. 196-221). https://doi.org/10.1017/UPO9781844654741.011
- Dworkin, R. (2013). Taking Rights Seriously.
- European Court of Human Rights. (2020). KEY CASES 2019. https://www.echr.coe.int/Documents/Cases list 2019 ENG.pdf

- European Court of Human Rights. (2021). *The ECHR in 50 questions* https://www.echr.coe.int/documents/50questions eng.pdf
- European Court of Human Rights. (2023). Violations by Article and by State 1959-2022. https://www.echr.coe.int/Documents/Stats violation 1959 2022 ENG.pdf
- Falch-Eriksen, A. (2022). Social work and Human Rights. Lecture 3. In. Oslo, Norway: OsloMet University.
- Falch-Eriksen, A. B.-H., Elisabeth. (2018). *Human Rights in Child Protection: Implications for Professional Practice and Policy*.
- Fenton-Glynn, C. (2021). *Children and the European Court of Human Rights*. https://doi.org/10.1093/oso/9780198787518.001.0001
- Gerdts-Andresen, T. (2021). A Childs' Right to Family Life when Placed in Public Care; an Analysis of Whether Current Norwegian Practice is in Systematic Contradiction to Human Rights. *The International of Children's Rights, 29*(3), 563-588. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1163/15718182-29030002
- The Constitution of the Kingdom of Norway, (Last update 12.01.2023). https://lovdata.no/dokument/NLE/lov/1814-05-17
- Habermas, J. (1996). Between facts and norms: Contributions to a discourse theory of law and democracy.
- Habermas, J. (2010). The concept of human dignity and the realistic utopia of human rights. *Metaphilosophy*, 41(4), 464-480. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9973.2010.01648.x
- Harel, A. (2005). Theories of rights. In M. P. Golding & W. A. Edmundson (Eds.), *The Blackwell Guide to the Philosophy of Law and Legal Theory* (pp. 191-206). Blackwell.
- Haugli, T., Nylund, A., Sigurdsen, R., & Bendiksen, L. R. L. (2019). *Children's Constitutional Rights in the Nordic Countries*
- Helland, H. S. (2021). In the Best Interest of the Child? Justifying Decisions on Adoption from Care in the Norwegian Supreme Court. *The International Journal of Children's Rights,* 29 (3), 609-639. <a href="https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1163/15718182-29030004">https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1163/15718182-29030004</a>
- Hermansen, S. S. L. (2020). Building legitimacy: strategic case allocations in the Court of Justice of the European Union. *Journal of European Public Policy*, *27*(8), 1215-1235. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1080/13501763.2020.1714697
- Hestbæk, A.-D., Skivenes, M., Falch-Eriksen, A., Svendsen, I. L., & Backe-Hansen, E. (2023). The Child Protection Systems in Denmark and Norway. In *Oxford Handbook of Child Protection Systems* (pp. 112-C116P115). <a href="https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordhb/9780197503546.013.5">https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordhb/9780197503546.013.5</a>
- Honohan, I. (2002). Civic Republicanism (T. Crane & J. Wolff, Eds.). Routledge.
- Human Development Reports. (2022). *Norway*. <a href="https://hdr.undp.org/data-center/specific-country-data#/countries/NOR">https://hdr.undp.org/data-center/specific-country-data#/countries/NOR</a>
- Jacobsen, A. F. (2016). Children's Rights in the European Court of Human Rights An Emerging Power Structure. *The International Journal of Children's Rights*, *24*(3), 548-574.
- Judicial Learning Center. (2023). Why Study Landmark Cases? <a href="https://judiciallearningcenter.org/why-study-landmark-cases/#:~:text=What%20is%20a%20landmark%20case,your%20individual%20rights%20and%20liberties">https://judiciallearningcenter.org/why-study-landmark-cases/#:~:text=What%20is%20a%20landmark%20case,your%20individual%20rights%20and%20liberties</a>.
- KidsRights Foundation. (2022). *The KidsRights Index 2022*. <a href="https://files.kidsrights.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/10/18212511/KidsRights-Index-Scoretable-2022.pdf">https://files.kidsrights.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/10/18212511/KidsRights-Index-Scoretable-2022.pdf</a>

- Klatt, M. (2020). Balancing Rights and Interests: Reconstructing the Asymmetry Thesis. *Oxford Journal of Legal Studies*, 41(2), 321-347. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1093/ojls/gqab034
- Kolsrud, K. (2019). EMD dumper 16 saker på Norge samtidig
- Det var Norges dommer i Strasbourg, Arnfinn Bårdsen, som tok initiativet til å kommunisere 16 barnevernsaker mot Norge på én gang. Retrieved 10. juli kl. 11:33 from <a href="https://rett24.no/articles/emd-dumper-16-saker-pa-norge-samtidig">https://rett24.no/articles/emd-dumper-16-saker-pa-norge-samtidig</a>
- Kornhauser, L. A. (2005). Economic Rationality in the Analysis of Legal Rules and Institutions. In M. P. Golding & W. A. Edmundson (Eds.), *The Blackwell Guide to the Philosophy of Law and Legal Theory* (pp. 67-79). Blackwell Publishing. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/9780470690116.ch4
- Levenbook, B. B. (1984). The Role of Coherence in Legal Reasoning. *Law and Philosophy*, *3*(3), 355-374. https://www.jstor.org/stable/3504658
- Lindman, C. R. (1989). Sources of Judicial Distrust of Social Science Evidence: A Comparison of Social Science and Jurisprudence. *Indiana Law Journal*, 64(3, Article 15). https://www.repository.law.indiana.edu/ilj/vol64/iss3/15
- Lohne, J., Ege, R. T., Norman, M. G., & Åsebø, S. (2015). *Tsjekkias president sammenligner norsk barnevern med nazi-program*. Retrieved 9. februar from <a href="https://www.vg.no/nyheter/innenriks/i/o0zkK/tsjekkias-president-sammenligner-norsk-barnevern-med-nazi-program">https://www.vg.no/nyheter/innenriks/i/o0zkK/tsjekkias-president-sammenligner-norsk-barnevern-med-nazi-program</a>
- MacCormick, N. (1994). The Requirement of 'Coherence': Principles and Analogies. In *Legal Reasoning and Legal Theory*. <a href="https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1093/acprof:oso/9780198763840.003.0007">https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1093/acprof:oso/9780198763840.003.0007</a>
- McEwan-Strand, A., & Skivenes, M. (2018). *A CHILD-CENTRED COURT OF HUMAN RIGHTS?* STRAND LOBBEN V. NORWAY. <a href="https://strasbourgobservers.com/2018/01/03/a-child-centred-court-of-human-rights-strand-lobben-v-norway-30-nov-2017/">https://strasbourgobservers.com/2018/01/03/a-child-centred-court-of-human-rights-strand-lobben-v-norway-30-nov-2017/</a>
- Mørk, A., Sandberg, K., Schultz, T., & Hartoft, H. (2022). Conflict between the Best Interests of the Child and the Right to Respect for Family Life? Non-Consensual Adoption in Denmark and Norway as an Example of the Difficulties in Balancing Different Considerations. *International Journal of Law, Policy & the Family, 36*(1), 1-23. 10.1093/lawfam/ebac019
- Moyn, S. (2014). The Universal Declaration of Human Rights of 1948 in the History of Cosmopolitanism. *Critical Inquiry*, 40(4), 365-384 <a href="https://doi.org/10.1086/676412">https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1086/676412</a>
- Norman, M. G. (2016). *Massedemonstrasjoner mot norsk barnevern i 19 land*. Retrieved 9. januar from <a href="https://www.vg.no/nyheter/utenriks/i/ejxPl/massedemonstrasjoner-mot-norsk-barnevern-i-19-land">https://www.vg.no/nyheter/utenriks/i/ejxPl/massedemonstrasjoner-mot-norsk-barnevern-i-19-land</a>
- Norwegian National Human Rights Institution. (2020). Why Does the ECtHR Find Human Rights Violations in Cases Concerning the Norwegian Child Welfare Services. <a href="https://www.nhri.no/en/2021/status-report-why-does-the-ecthr-find-human-rights-violations-in-cases-concerning-the-norwegian-child-welfare-services/">https://www.nhri.no/en/2021/status-report-why-does-the-ecthr-find-human-rights-violations-in-cases-concerning-the-norwegian-child-welfare-services/</a>
- Olsvik, B., & Saus, M. (2022). Coping with Paradoxes: Norwegian Child Welfare Leaders Managing Complexity. *Child Care in Practice*, *28*(3), 464-481.
- Pascual, M. G., & Pérez, A. T. (2018). The Right to Family Life in the European Union.
- Pecnic, N. (2007). Towards a vision of parenting in the best interests of the child In M. Daly (Ed.), *Parenting in contemporary Europe : a positive approach* (pp. 15-36). Council of Europe Publishing.

- Pogge, T. (2012). COSMOPOLITANISM: A PATH TO PEACE AND JUSTICE. *Journal of East-West Thought*, 9-32.
- Sanz-Caballero, S. (2021). Towards a Uniform and Informed Interpretation of the Best Interests of the Child by the Judiciary: Inter-American and European Jurisprudence. *The International Journal of Children's Rights*(29), 54-77.
- Sayer, A. (2017). Normativity in the social sciences and professions. In M. S. Kjørstad, May-Britt (Ed.), *Critical Realism for Welfare Professions*.
- Secretariat of the Committee of Ministers. (2022). STRAND LOBBEN AND OTHERS V. NORWAY
   EUROPEAN COURT OF HUMAN RIGHTS CASE NO. 37283/13 CONSOLIDATED ACTION
  PLAN JUNE 2022. https://rm.coe.int/0900001680a6f064
- Skivenes, M. (2023). Wrong direction for the Norwegian child protection? <a href="https://discretion.uib.no/concerns-about-changes-in-norwegian-child-protection/">https://discretion.uib.no/concerns-about-changes-in-norwegian-child-protection/</a>
- Skivenes, M., & Sørsal, L. M. (2018). The Child's Best Interest Principle across Child Protection Jurisdictions. In A. B.-H. Falch-Eriksen, Elisabeth (Ed.), *Human Rights in Child Protection: Implications for Professional Practice and Policy*. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-94800-3">https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-94800-3</a>
- Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy. (2010). *Interpretation and Coherence in Legal Reasoning*. <a href="https://plato.stanford.edu/entries/legal-reas-interpret/">https://plato.stanford.edu/entries/legal-reas-interpret/</a>
- The European Court of Human Rights. (2019a). Case Description: STRAND LOBBEN AND OTHERS v. Norway. Retrieved 2023 from <a href="https://hudoc.exec.coe.int/eng#">https://hudoc.exec.coe.int/eng#</a>{%22EXECIdentifier%22:[%22004-54045%22]}
- The European Court of Human Rights. (2019b). *Case of Strand Lobben and Others v. Norway*. https://lovdata.no/static/EMDN/emd-2013-037283-2.pdf
- The European Court of Human Rights. (2023). *Press country profile Norway*. Retrieved Last updated: January 2023 from https://www.echr.coe.int/documents/cp\_norway\_eng.pdf
- UNICEF. (2019). Sweden, Norway, Iceland, Estonia and Portugal rank highest for family-friendly policies in OECD and EU countries. Retrieved 06.05.2023 from <a href="https://www.unicef.org/press-releases/sweden-norway-iceland-and-estonia-rank-highest-family-friendly-policies-oecd-and-eu">https://www.unicef.org/press-releases/sweden-norway-iceland-and-estonia-rank-highest-family-friendly-policies-oecd-and-eu</a>
- United Nations. (2015). *Universal Declaration of Human Rights* https://www.un.org/en/udhrbook/pdf/udhr booklet en web.pdf
- United Nations Organisation. (1948). *Universal Declaration of Human Rights,*. https://www.un.org/en/about-us/universal-declaration-of-human-rights
- United Nations Organisation. (2023). HUMAN RIGHTS AND INDICATORS: RATIONALE AND SOME CONCERNS. Retrieved 2023 from <a href="https://www.ohchr.org/sites/default/files/documents/issues/HRIndicators/AGuide">https://www.ohchr.org/sites/default/files/documents/issues/HRIndicators/AGuide</a> MeasurementImplementationChapterl en.pdf
- World Justice Project. (2022). *WJP Rule of Law Index*. <a href="https://worldjusticeproject.org/rule-of-law-index/global/2022/">https://worldjusticeproject.org/rule-of-law-index/global/2022/</a>